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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)
XI ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007
OR
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to
Commission File Number 0-30739
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaet)
Virginia 54-197272¢
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. employer
incorporation or organization) identification no.)
8720 Stony Point Parkway
Richmond, Virginia 23235 (804) 563000
(Address of principal executive offices (Registrant’s telephone numbel
(zip code) including area code)
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dlfie Act:
Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registere
Common Stock, par value $0.01/shar Nasdaq Capital Market

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) tlie Act:

(Title of class)
Common Stock

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405c08#turities Act.  Yed No
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuiegd to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®ecl5(d) of the Act. Yes[ No

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant ék)filed all reports required to be filed by Sewtic3 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for sslobrter period that the registrant was requirefildsuch reports), and (2) has been subject
to such filing requirements for the past 90 day¥es No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquigletrs pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K i oontained herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge]dfinitive proxy or information statements incorated by reference in Part 1l of this Form
10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-Kx]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantleage accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, @accelerated filer, or a small reporting
company (See the definitions of “large accelerdiled” “accelerated filer,” and “small reportingpmpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act).

Large accelerated filel] Accelerated filer Non-accelerated filer] Small Reporting Company]
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantseell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Bxgie Act). Yes[ No

The aggregate market value of the voting and namga@ommon equity held by non-affiliates of thgistrant on June 30, 2007 was $
98,583,73@based on the closing price for shares of the tiegiss Common Stock as reported on the NasdagabMhrket on that date). In
determining this figure, the registrant has assuthatall of its directors, officers and personsiowg 10% or more of the outstanding Common
Stock are affiliates. This assumption shall nottbemed conclusive for any other purpose.

On February 28, 2008, there wdrl,904,313hares of the registrant’s common stock, $.01 pharey outstanding.

Portions of the registra’s definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with thec8rities and Exchange Commission no later thands38, ol



April 29, 2008, after the registrant’s fiscal yesaded December 31, 2007, and to be delivered telsblaers in connection with the 2008
Annual Meeting of Shareholders, are herein incafeat by reference in Part Ill and a small sectioRat 11.
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PART I

We may from time to time make written or oral “fand-looking statements”, including statements cared in our filings with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (includingAhisual Report on Form 10-K and the Exhibits hegatd thereto), in our reports to
stockholders and in other communications. Suclestants give our current expectations or forecaktatare events; they do not relate stric
to historical or current facts. One can identifetie forward-looking statements by use of words aacimay,” “could,” “should,” “would,”
“believe,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “expect,” “int end,” “plan,” “projects,” “outlook” or similar expr essions. In particular, these include
statements relating to our beliefs, plans, objexgj\goals, future actions, prospective productproduct approvals, future performance or
results of current and anticipated products, thécome of contingencies, such as legal proceedinggiaancial results. These statements are
based upon the current beliefs and expectatiomsasfagement and are subject to significant risks @amekrtainties. Our actual results may
differ materially from those set forth in the fomddooking statements. Forward-looking statement®lve certain risks and uncertainties that
are subject to change based on various factors {nodnvhich are beyond our control). Factors thatiltbcause or contribute to differences in
our actual results include those discussed in lte&under the section entitled “Risk Factors,” aslives those discussed in Item 7 under the
section entitled “Management’s Discussion and Asiglyf Financial Condition and Results of Operasiband elsewhere throughout this
Annual Report on Form -K and in any other documents incorporated by rafiee. We undertake no obligation to publicly updatevard-
looking statements, whether as a result of newrnméion, future events or otherwise. You are adljisewever, to consult any further
disclosures we make on related subjects in our HR@8-K reports to the Securities and Exchange @imsion.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
BUSINESS OVERVIEW

We are a development stage company with expertisecombinant protein drug development. We havate-®f-the art FDA-approved
commercial biologics manufacturing facility locatedBoulder, Colorado, and our corporate officéosated in Richmond, Virginia.

We are pursuing a dual path strategy involvingyemtro the follow-on biologics follow-on biologicgrena (also known as biosimilars,
biogenerics and biologics) and advancing our petary protein platform into niche markets with unmeeds. In the follow-on biologics field,
we are developing a robust pipeline of productgeted for markets in anemia, neutropenia and antoing diseases. On the proprietary prc
front, our product, the FDA-approved IPLEX™ isviarious stages of development for a number of geninedical conditions. Based on a
comprehensive market analysis, our current resalfoeation strategy for IPLEX™ is focused primgriln Myotonic Muscular Dystrophy
(“MMD”) followed by Amyotrophic Lateral SclerosisALS”) in Italy, also known as Lou Gehrig’s diseasether areas where IPLEX™ has
also shown potential such as HIV-associated Adiptedistribution Syndrome (“HARS”), , and Retinopatf Prematurity (“ROP”) will be
considered in the future when our primary indicagidlave been fully pursued.

PRODUCT PLATFORMS
FOLLOW -ON BIOLOGICS

Follow-on biologics, also known as “biogenerics™biosimilars,” are versions of drugs produced thgb biological processes. The
biologics on which they are based differ from ttiadial “small molecule” drugs such as Aspifinand Lipitor®, and all other medicines
typically taken in pill form — in several importantys. First, biologics are made up of complex rmales, such as proteins, that must be
administered via direct injection because if theyrevadministered orally, they would be broken dawthe digestive tract and never reach t
intended targets. Second, these drugs are prochatdry merely combining chemicals but by the ndtura

3



Table of Contents

processes of living cells. In the manufacture ofdgics, the DNA of cells is engineered such thatdells themselves produce the desired
proteins. Third, the production of biologics is rhunore exacting than that of small-molecule dr@®wing one type of genetically-
engineered cell while excluding all other organidros the mix is inherently more difficult than gty achieving sterile conditions (no living
organisms at all) under which traditional drugsmenufactured.

The process of testing, developing, and manufagjuriedicines often takes several years. We betiavé&DA- approved facility,
coupled with our protein development expertise@sents a significant asset and offers a combinafiepecialized manufacturing skills and
drug approval capability which is currently scaetgewhere in the industry. To design, build andh gddA approval for a similar facility would
require a sizeable capital investment and takerakyears to complete. As we have the asset avaitedw along with the skill set in house to
develop and manufacture a portfolio of follow-oolbgics and take them through the FDA approval @seave believe we are uniquely
positioned to take advantage of this emerging mawié the goal of being ready to enter the marideén the innovator product comes off
patent. Our strategy is to manufacture high quatigdicines and bring them to market following tla¢emt expiration of the innovator product,
thus providing savings for patients and payors,exghnding access to critically needed medicines.

Biologics comprise one of the fastest growing amdtexpensive categories of drugs. By 2009, sateesdtimated to reach $90 billion
and according to published reports, an estimat@duilion worth of biologic drugs are expected tmte off patent by 2010.*

In the follow-on biologics field, we are developiagobust pipeline of products targeted as treatsfen anemia, neutropenia and
autoimmune diseases. In November 2007 we annowaragdletion of development of two key follow on luglcs at our facilities in Boulder,
Colorado, INS-19 (Granulocyte Colony Stimulatingtés or G-CSF) and INS-20 (Peg G-CSF). By achievirese critical development
milestones, Insmed is positioned to initiate clahistudies for INS-19 and INS-20 in 2008

*Engel & Novitt, LLP, “Potential Savings That Might Be Realized by theibéed Program From Enactment of Legislation SuciThe Acces
to Life-Savings Medicine Act (H.R. 6257/S. 4016t Hstablishes A New cBLA Pathway For follow-ordg@s. Table 4a., January2, 2007.

INS-19 Granulocyte Colony Stimulating Factor

Colony-stimulating factors are glycoproteins thett@ bone marrow and certain cells in the bloostitmulate the development and
growth of white blood cells. Granulocyte-Colonyritilating Factor (“G-CSF”) is one of these glycopins that binds to specific cell surface
receptors and stimulates the production of diséghkéng cells called neutrophils. Recombinant hun@&CSF (* Recombinant G-CSF”) is a
synthetic version of G-CSF which is produced intbaa. Recombinant human G-CSF mimics the bioldgfacts of naturally occurring G-
CSF and is used to treat certain medical conditveer® a person’s neutrophils are too low (neutr@esuch as in cancer patients who are
receiving certain chemotherapeutic regimens, pitierceiving bone marrow transplants, or in pasievito have chronically low neutrophils
other reasons.

We have developed a high yield manufacturing predéstensive physicochemical characterization destmates that the molecule is
highly similar to the innovator product, Neupodgenwith direct comparison of INS-19 to Neupoderbioassay data demonstrates comparable
bioactivity, and pharmacodynamic preclinical stsdiemonstrate comparable effects on neutrophiltcatuequivalent doses. We have initiated
preclinical toxicology studies with INS-19 and @tanning to initiate clinical studies in 2008.

INS-20 Pegylated Granulocyte Colony Stimulating Factor

Pegylated G-CSF is a chemically modified versio®eESF in which a water soluble polymer called ptiylene glycol is attached to
the protein. The pegylated protein has a prolormeldgical activity after it is injected into thepent. This allows less frequent dosing for the
patient as compared to G-CSF.
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With INS-20 (Peg G-CSF) we have achieved a sintegl of purity when compared with the innovatooguct, Neulast&. Preclinical
pharmacodynamic and toxicology studies are cuyentbierway with INS-20 and clinical studies arenpled later in 2008.

Other potential FOB candidates are also targetedhadre in the preliminary stages of developmehesk include Interferon beta-1b,
Interferon beta-1a and Erythropoietin.

PROPRIETARY PROTEIN PLATFORM
IPLEX

Our proprietary protein product, IPLEX (mecasermiriabate, recombinant DNA origin, injection), whigs a complex of recombinant
human IGF-1 and its binding protein IGFBP-3 (rhIGFRIGFBP-3), is being studied as a treatment é»esal serious medical conditions.

IPLEX is typically administered as a once-daily suianeous injection, which can restore and mairi@i1 at physiologically relevant
levels. The binding protein, rhIGFBP-3, extendsrémidence time of IGF-1 in the blood. In the bostate, we believe IGF-1 is inactive and
remains so until delivered to target tissues inbibey where it is released and becomes biologiecative.

Following an external review of the markets for tlagious indications which could be served by IPIEXve have prioritized our targets
and have selected MMD as our initial primary indiima for IPLEX™. We are also evaluating IPLEX™ aseatment for ALS in Italy as part
of our EAP. Other areas where IPLEX™ has also shpetantial such as HIV-associated Adipose Redistidn Syndrome (“HARS"), , and
Retinopathy of Prematurity (“ROP”) will be considdrin the future when our primary indications haeen fully pursued.

Development of IPLEX in Myotonic Muscular Dystropt

MMD is the most common type of adult muscular dyskry and affects approximately 1 in 8,000 individudMD causes progressive
muscle wasting and weakness in the hands, fore#éegss,neck and face. It often involves many oflystemic effects, including endocrine
abnormalities, neurological changes, cataractdr@atestinal problems, and cardiac rhythm abnoitieal In extreme cases, these patients can
eventually become totally disabled, dying usualbnf respiratory or cardiac failure. At presentrénis no treatment to reverse most of these
symptoms. Previous preclinical and clinical studiase demonstrated that IGF-1 therapy may be @ctefé treatment for MMD.

Based on information published by the Muscular Bystty Association (the “MDA”), we believe that tieesire approximately 40,000
patients that suffer from MMD in the United Stat@spresent, there is no approved treatment far disease.

Ongoing Clinical Study

A Phase Il enabling clinical trial investigatinBLLEX as a treatment for MMD has been initiated hwifite help of a $2.1 million grant
from the MDA. This expanded Phase Il program iglaveek, 60 patient, placebo controlled trial usindpse of 1.0 mg/kg/day of IPLEX. This
study is ongoing and is evaluating the effectdfdfHX on endurance, cognitive function, Gl functiomjscle function, lean body mass and
insulin sensitivity. A final report is expected2009.

Expanded Access Program for Patients in Italy wigL. S

ALS is a progressive neurodegenerative diseasatfeats nerve cells in the brain and the spinadlcblotor neurons reach from the br
to the spinal cord and from the spinal cord torthescles throughout the body. The progressive degtoe of the motor neurons in ALS
eventually leads to their death. When the motoromidie, the ability of the brain to initiate acmhtrol muscle movement is lost. With
voluntary muscle action
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progressively affected, patients in the later stagfedhe disease may become totally paralyzed.thigugh it all, for the vast majority of peog
their minds remain unaffected.

At the request of the Italian Ministry of Healthewstablished an Expanded Access Program in tglyavide IPLEX to physicians for
use in their patients with ALS. The request cama eesult of several Italian Court rulings orderthg Italian National Health System to
provide IPLEX to specific ALS patients who haveifi@hed the Court. Through an agreement with Cephalhich holds patent rights in the
European Union to IGF-1 as it relates to the trestinof ALS, we are able to provide IPLEX to phyaits in Italy and receive payment for the
drug, on a cost recovery basis, from the ItaliaaltheAuthorities. We plan to evaluate the patiemtcomes to determine if a clinical trial is
warranted. There are an estimated 1,000 new cégdsSoper year in Italy.

IPLEX and Short-Stature Market

In the past, we were focused on development andremialization of IPLEX for the treatment of growfdilure in children with severe
primary IGF-1 deficiency. IPLEX was approved by fieA for treatment of severe primary IGF-1 defidgnn December 2005 and was
commercially launched in the second quarter of 2@@6a result of our recent settlement agreemetht Wercica, Inc. and Genentech, Inc.,
discussed below, we have withdrawn IPLEX from tharket.

In December 2004, Tercica and Genentech filed patéimgement suits against us in the U.S. Dist@ourt for the Northern District of
California and in the United Kingdom at the Highu@toof Justice, Chancery Division, Patents Courthiese cases, Tercica and Genentech
alleged that production and use of IPLEX infringdaims in certain U.S. and European patents, oviaye@enentech and licensed to Tercica,
directed to methods of using rhIGF-1/rhiIGFBP-3 arethods of producing rhIGF-1 and IGFBP-3. In Jub@& Tercica also filed an unfair
competition suit against us in the U.S. Districu@mf the Eastern District of Virginia, claimingdt we disseminated misleading statements to
the market in connection with our marketing of IPLE

On December 6, 2006, a jury in the U.S. Districu@dor the Northern District of California fountddt we infringed patents held by
Tercica and Genentech and awarded damages of $ifidhras an upfront payment and a royalty of 15f0p@ast sales of IPLEX below $100
million and 20% for past sales of IPLEX above $hfilion.

On March 5, 2007, we reached a settlement agreeenelitig all litigation with Tercica and GenenteBlrsuant to the agreement, we
agreed to cease sales and marketing of IPLEX itUtiited States and agreed to withdraw our Europédarketing Authorization Application
for IPLEX. We will continue to provide IPLEX to nad patients with ALS in Italy under our Expanded@ss Program. The agreement also
gives us the right, through a worldwide developngartnership with Tercica and Genentech, to mdfeEX for conditions not related to
short-stature. These indications include sevendimsesistance, MMD and HARS, among others. Thestigpment partnership includes
provisions that give us a 50% share of profits @ichbursement for 50% of development costs if eiffercica or Genentech exercises opt-in
rights for marketing of IPLEX in any of these nawdications that we develop. In addition, as pathefsettlement agreement, Tercica and
Genentech waived the damages awarded by the juhgipatent infringement suit from the U.S. Dist@ourt for the Northern District of
California.

Oncology Programs— INSM-18 and rhIGFBP-3

INSM-18 and rhIGFBP-3 are in early clinical develognt and are primarily being investigated for tleatment of cancer. We believe
both INSM-18 and rhIGFBP-3 are promising potentiavel treatments for a variety of cancer typesclitrieal models demonstrate that both
treatments interact with the IGF system to reduosor growth.
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INSM-18

INSM-18 is an orally available small molecule tyireskinase inhibitor that has demonstrated seledtitaibition of IGF-1 and human
epidermal growth factor receptor (Her2/Neu). It dasonstrated anti-tumor activity in preclinicaldies of breast, lung, pancreatic and
prostate tumors. Two single dose Phase | clinicaliss in healthy volunteers have been previousiygleted with INSM-18. In both studies,
INSM-18 was safe and well tolerated.

The American Cancer Society estimated that 232n@00cases of prostate cancer occurred in the UBitais in 2005. It also estimated
that 30,000 deaths occurred as a result of prosteteer, making it the second leading cause oferadeath in men.

Completed Clinical Study

The University of California, San Francisco, hampteted a dose-escalating Phase /Il clinical stlelsigned to define the maximum
tolerated dose of INSM-18 in patients with relappesktate cancer. The study consisted of a 28+gaynhent period at each dose level to
investigate the effect of INSM-18 on prostate-sfieeintigen levels. An analysis of the data cokeictrom the study is currently being
conducted. The results from this study will be usedesign a potential Phase Il clinical study vahige plan to progress in collaboration with a
suitable partner.

rhIGFBP-3

Although IGF-1 is critical for normal growth and tabolism, aberrant signaling through this pathvsagiosely linked to the abnormal
and unregulated growth of a variety of tumors. Ring tumor-associated IGF signaling has preventetbt growth in a variety of preclinical
models. rhIGFBP-3 has demonstrated preclinicata€fy in numerous cancer indications, including §t,garostate, liver, ovarian and colon.
Additionally, several lines of recent evidencenfrgarious cell systems, have suggested that rhiGEFBRy play a more active, IGF-1-
independent role in growth regulation of cancels¢dlinding specifically with high affinity to theurface of various cell types and directly
inhibiting monolayer growth of these cells in arFH&-independent manner. Recent independent stbdiesdemonstrated that when IGFBP-3
is used in combination with other cancer therajtiean accentuate and even synergize the effichsiandard cancer therapies. Paclitaxel-
induced apoptosis is accentuated by rhiIGFBP-3, lwhéas been shown to sensitize cells to apopta@itats such as irradiation and ceramides.
Due to the high cost of trials in the oncology aneaplan to identify a partner to co-develop rhiGFB.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Since we began operations in late 1999, we havetddwsubstantially all of our resources to theasdeand development of a number of
product candidates for metabolic and endocrineadis® Our research and development efforts arepriagipally focused on pursuing a dual
path strategy involving entry into the follow-oroligics arena (also known as biosimilars, biogesesind biologics) and advancing our
proprietary protein platform into niche marketshwitnmet needs. In the follow-on biologics field, are developing a robust pipeline of
products targeted for markets in anemia, neutr@pand autoimmune diseases. In addition, on therigtapy protein front our lead product, the
FDA-approved IPLEX, is being studied as a treatnfienseveral serious medical conditions with oumary focus being on MMD and ALS in
Italy. We conduct very little of our own preclinldaboratory research. We have outsourced sevédd®ll clinical studies with IPLEX™ and
our other anti-cancer product candidates, INSM+1@ralGFBP-3, and plan on conducting additionalichl studies in the future.

Research and development expenses primarily in@xpgenses incurred in preparing and obtaining sacgspprovals from regulatory
bodies, certain expenses involving the developraentanufacturing
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processes and clinical studies. Our research arelafanent expenses were approximately $21.1 midiewof the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2006 (“fiscal 2006") and $18.9 millfonthe year ended December 31, 2007 (“fiscal 2p07

MANUFACTURING

We currently manufacture our own supply of IPLEXlahlGFBP-3 at our Boulder, Colorado, FDA-approweainufacturing facility. We
are also developing a line of follow-on biologiesgeted for markets in anemia, neutropenia andraatane diseases when the innovator
products come off patent. The manufacturing prooegsires compliance with current good manufactupgractices, or cGMP, and other
similar regulations. IPLEX, a complex of two pratgj rhIGF-1 and its binding protein rhIGFBP-3, @t FOB candidates, are manufactured
using recombinant DNA technology. This manufactgimocess is complicated and involves expressigheoproteins by bacterial
fermentation followed by purification and combirmeati We currently outsource to third-party contraetnufacturers some of the analytical
testing and the final fill, finish and labeling IfLEX and our follow-on biologics product candidate

As part of ongoing regulatory compliance, it islik that the FDA will inspect our manufacturingifdies and our contract
manufacturers’ facilities from time to time to emns@ompliance with cGMP. If these facilities are¢ imcompliance with cGMP, the FDA will
likely require us to halt manufacturing until wergy the facilities into compliance. This could taksubstantial period of time and could
adversely affect the development and timing ofdimical studies FOB candidates and our Expandemkss Program. If for any other reason
we are unable to manufacture sufficient quantiifesur product candidates and their componentsdetraur planned time and cost parame
the development of our FOB candidates and the grofrour clinical studies for additional indicatomay be adversely affected.

We may expend significant resources for the exjpanand modification of our manufacturing facilityes the next three years in an ef
to increase our production capacity and the efficyeof our operations. During 2007 we notified tamrdlord of our intention to renew our lei
through February 2013. At the present time we keltais facility meets our needs through 2009 far dMD clinical study and Expanded
Access Program needs for IPLEX™ and the produaifaur selected FOB candidates.

PATENTS AND PROPRIETARY RIGHTS
Patent Portfolio

Proprietary protection is important to our businessl our policy is to protect our technology Hin§j patent applications for technology
that we consider important. We directly hold selex&. patents relating to the composition, produgtantibodies and methods of use for
IPLEX and rhIGFBP-3. In addition, foreign countemgéao the above-referenced U.S. patents havedssuare pending issue in the major
pharmaceutical markets, such as the European UBmmada and Japan. The various issued patents tellRLEX and rhIGFBP-3
compositions, methods of production and methodseatment, and expire at various times during #ery 2010 through 2019.

As part of the ongoing development of IPLEX, INSKE-4nd rhIGFBP-3 we have filed or intend to filegrdtapplications related to new
production methods, improved formulations, new roadises and new dosing regimens in the Unite@$taid in many of the major
international pharmaceutical markets. As with aegging patent application, there can be no asserdyat any of these applications will issue
in the United States, European Union. Canada, Japanany other country where we decide to filegootection. There also can be no
assurance that a subsequent U.S. or foreign patittater be held valid and enforceable.

As part of our business strategy, we plan to liedngellectual property that we feel may be impatta the development and
commercialization of our products. The agreemdraswe have entered into are subject to terminatgmm material breach by us. Our ability
to maintain licensure under these agreements isradigmt on
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our ability to meet the obligations defined in thegreements and although we take steps to ensm@iance with the provisions of these
agreements, we cannot assure that the licensdreatilake dispute with our actions and will seekerminate the agreements. We currently
have the following licensing arrangements in place:

. In March 2007, we were granted a license or suldieeas applicable to patents held by Tercica ameg@ech to develop IPLEX in
certain medical indications in the United Stated fomeign territories, as discussed earlier in geistion;

. In April 2005, we were granted a r-exclusive license to certain proprietary manufaogtechnology from Avecia Limitec

. In January 2004, we were granted a-exclusive license to patent rights pertaining ®ule of IG-1 therapy for the treatment

extreme or severe insulin resistant diabetes frajisd&dva Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.; &

. In November 1998, we were granted a-exclusive license to certain proprietary manufantutechnology from Brookhave
Science Associates, LL(

Reflecting our commitment to safeguarding proprietaformation, we require our employees and camasi$ to sign confidentiality
agreements. Furthermore, we enter into resear@eagnts in which we exchange proprietary mateaiadsinformation with collaborators
including material transfer agreements, researcbesgents, development agreements and clinicalagisdements. These agreements prohibit
unauthorized disclosure of our proprietary inforimat Despite our efforts to protect our proprietarfprmation, unauthorized parties may
attempt to obtain and use our proprietary infororatPolicing unauthorized use of our proprietafpimation is difficult and the steps we have
taken might not prevent misappropriation, partidylan foreign countries where the laws may nottpod our proprietary rights as fully as do
the laws of the United States.

We note that there has been increasing litigaticthé biopharmaceutical industry with respect ®rtianufacture and sale of new
therapeutic compounds. The validity and breadttiaims in biotechnology patents may involve comgbetual and legal issues, for which no
consistent policy exists. In particular, the pafentection available for protein-based drugs, sachPLEX and rhIGFBP-3, is highly uncertain
and involves issues relating to the scope of ptaeof claims to gene sequences and the produofitimeir corresponding proteins.

In some cases, litigation or other proceedings beagecessary to enforce our patents or protedtrmw-how or other intellectual
property rights. Any additional potential litigatias likely to result in a substantial cost to nsl@ diversion of our resources. We cannot be
that any of our patents will ultimately be heldidalAn adverse outcome in any litigation or prodagatould subject us to significant liability.

Third Party Patents

Third parties hold U.S. and foreign patents pogdililected to the composition, production and usdkisF-1, rhIGFBP-3, IPLEX and
recombinant proteins generally. We are not awarngfpatents that would prevent us from pursuingptans to commercialize IPLEX and
rhiIGFBP-3. We can provide no assurance, howevat alhird party will not assert a contrary positio the future, for instance in the context
of an infringement action. Likewise, we cannot peedith certainty the outcome of such a proceedinghe event of a successful claim
against us for infringement or misappropriatioradhird party’s proprietary rights, we may be reqdito:

* pay damages, including up to treble damages andtktes part’s attorney’ fees, which may be substanti
» cease the development, manufacture, marketingaad§products that infringe the proprietary rigbf others

9



Table of Contents

» expend significant resources to redesign our prosluthat it does not infringe the proprietary tigbf others

» develop or acquire n-infringing proprietary rights, which may not be piide and would require additional clinical triaisd
regulatory approvals

» redesign our product to avoid infringing on thi@y proprietary rights, which may result in sigedgint regulatory delays associa
with conducting additional clinical trials or oth&teps to obtain regulatory approval;

» obtain one or more licenses from third partiesherinfringed proprietary rights, which may notdailable to us on acceptable
terms or at all

Furthermore, litigation with any third party, eviéthe allegations are without merit, would likddg expensive and time-consuming and
divert management’s attention.

Any conclusions regarding non-infringement and lidiy are based in part on a review of publichadsble databases and other
information. There may be information not availatiels or otherwise not reviewed by us that midgtange our conclusions. Moreover, the
scope and validity of patent claims are determiveesked on many facts and circumstances, and iigatiitn, a court may reach a different
conclusion on any given patent claim than the aiohs that we have reached.

In 2007 we settled patent infringement litigationuloght against us by Tercica and Genentech. Asopdine settlement agreement, we
entered into a Consent Judgment and Permanenttigarin the United States District Court for therthern District of California. If our
settlement agreement with Tercica and Genentetghrignated, the Consent Judgment and Permanemictign against us will survive
termination, which would have a material adverdeatfon our business, financial condition and rssol operations.

COMPETITION

We are engaged in an industry that is intenselypatitive and characterized by rapid technologicabpess. For all of our other product
candidates, we face significant competition fromté&thnology, large pharmaceutical and other congsaniniversities and research instituti
Most of these companies and institutions have snlistly greater capital resources, research amdldpment staffs, facilities and experience
in conducting clinical studies and obtaining regig approvals. In addition, many of these compahi@ve greater experience and expertise
than we do in manufacturing and marketing pharmtcadproducts.

We cannot predict the relative competitive positibrour product candidates if they are approveduf®. However, we expect that the
following factors will determine our ability to cqrate effectively: safety, efficacy, product priease of administration and marketing and
capability.

In the follow-on biologics field we are developiagveral candidates which we plan to have readthfomarketplace when the innovator
products patents expire. We believe Sandoz, TexdaBarr have follow-on biologics capabilities. MglaVatson, Par, and Apotex have not
disclosed follow-on biologics strategies. Compamiéh injectable generic/branded strategies, Hasgaird Abraxis, have been acquiring
Follow-on biologics assets through licensing. Foempanies developing follow-on biologics in emeggmarkets (Shantha, Wockhardt, Dr
Reddy’s in India, and Dragon in China) have focuseaharily on their home markets. They have notaamted deals to license their products
to developed markets. Two companies developingdeibn biologics in emerging markets (Biocon ané#ntoth in India) have announced
licensing agreements with companies in developettteta

In the proprietary protein area, we are aware wés®# pharmaceutical companies that are develoghings in various forms of muscular
dystrophy including PTC Therapeutics, Asklepiosg@iarmaceutical Inc., Wyeth and Schering-Plough/Regirmaceutical, AVI Biopharma,
Cephalon and Transgene, however, we believe that
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IPLEX is the only drug that is in development foe treatment of MMD. We are also aware that rhiGta4 been shown in a small clinical
study to have positive effects in patients with MMBd that Nifendipine, Coenzyme Q10, DHEA-S and tlmse Metformin have all been
investigated for the treatment of MMD, however we anaware of any formal development programs teymuthis indication for these drugs.

Many companies are pursuing the development ofymtsdor the treatment of cancer. Our competitoctuide multinational
pharmaceutical companies, specialized biotechndiogyg, universities and other research institwioflthough we are unaware of any
companies developing rhiIGFBP-3 for cancer, we a@a of companies who are developing productsateintended to target the same IGF-
pathway targeted by INSM-18 and rhIGFBP-3. Thegapanies include ImClone, Amgen, OSI Pharmaceuti&alistol Meyers Squibb and
Genentech.

It is possible that there are other companies piittducts currently in development or that existlmmarket that may compete directly
with IPLEX, INSM-18 and rhIGFBP-3.

GOVERNMENT REGULATION

Government authorities in the United States andratbuntries extensively regulate the researcheldpment, testing, manufacture,
promotion, marketing and distribution of drug protiu Drugs are subject to rigorous regulation l®yRBA and similar regulatory bodies in
other countries. If we do not comply with appliGabéquirements, we may be fined, the governmentnefaige to approve our marketing
applications or allow us to manufacture or marketmroducts, and we may be criminally prosecuted.

We and our manufacturers may also be subject wdatgns under other federal, state, and local Jamduding the Occupational Safety
and Health Act, the Environmental Protection Akg €lean Air Act and import, export and customsutatipns.

PROPRIETARY PROTEIN PLATFORM
FDA Approval Process

The steps ordinarily required before a new drug bynarketed in the United States are similargpsstequired in many other countri
The process required by the FDA before a new drag be marketed in the United States generally wresthe following: completion of
preclinical laboratory testing, submission of awdstigational New Drug Application, or IND, whichust become effective before human
clinical studies may begin, performance of adeqaatewell-controlled human clinical studies to bith the safety and efficacy of the
proposed drug for its intended use and submissidragproval of a New Drug Application, or NDA, thetFDA.

Preclinical tests include laboratory evaluatiopadduct chemistry and stability, as well as anistallies to evaluate toxicity before a
drug is administered to human subjects. The res@ipseclinical testing are submitted to the FDApast of an IND. The FDA requires a 8@y
waiting period after the submission of each INDdoefbeginning clinical tests in humans. At any titueing this 30-day period or at any time
thereafter, the FDA may order the partial, tempomrpermanent discontinuation of a clinical tealimpose other sanctions if the FDA
believes that the clinical trial is not being cootid in accordance with FDA requirements or pressantunacceptable risk to the clinical trial
patients. Clinical studies must be conducted imetance with the FDA’s good clinical practices regments. The IND process may become
extremely costly and substantially delay developnogimur products. Moreover, positive results afginical tests are not necessarily
indicative of similar results in clinical trials.

Clinical studies to support NDA approval are tyflicaonducted in three sequential phases, but lases may overlap. In Phase | clin
studies, the product is tested in a small numbg@atients or healthy volunteers, primarily for $afet one or more doses and to assess
pharmacokinetics. In Phase Il clinical studiesadidlition
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to safety, the sponsor evaluates the efficacy @ptioduct on targeted indications, identifies passadverse effects and safety risks in a patient
population, and assesses dose tolerance and oplirs@lrange. If a compound is found to be potdytidfective and to have an acceptable
safety profile in Phase Il studies, Phase Ill stadalso referred to as “pivotal studies,” are utadten. Phase lll clinical studies typically

involve testing for safety and clinical efficacyan expanded patient population at geographicadlpedsed study sites.

After completion of the required clinical testirag) NDA is submitted. An NDA contains the resultsted preclinical and clinical studies,
together with, among other things, detailed infaiioraon the manufacture and composition of the peb@nd proposed labeling, including
payment of a user fee. The FDA may request additimfiormation before accepting an NDA for filinig, which case the application must be
resubmitted with the additional information. Duriitg review of an NDA, the FDA may refer the apption to an appropriate advisory
committee for review, evaluation and recommendati®to whether the application should be approvkd.FDA is not bound by the
recommendation of an advisory committee.

Under the policies agreed to by the FDA under ttesétiption Drug User Fee Act, or the PDUFA, theAHas ten months in which to
complete its initial review of a standard NDA ardpond to the applicant, and six months to injtis#view and respond to a priority NDA.
Standard NDA status or priority NDA status are blase several factors identified by the FDA incluglfior example, whether the drug prodi
if approved, would be a significant improvement pamed to marketed products in the treatment, disignor prevention of a disease. The
review process and the PDUFA goal date may be dgteby three months if the FDA requests, or the NdpAnsor otherwise submits, a me
amendment containing additional information or iization regarding information already providedtire submission within the last three
months of the PDUFA goal date.

If the FDA’s evaluations of the NDA and the clinliegend manufacturing procedures and facilities ax@fable, the FDA may issue either
an approval letter or an approvable letter, whightains the conditions that must be met in ordeseture final approval of the NDA. If and
when those conditions have been met to the FDAisfaation, the FDA will issue an approval lettauthorizing commercial marketing of the
drug for certain approved indications. In additian,approval letter may contain various post-mamgetommitments or agreements, which are
often referred to as Phase IV studies. If the FD&valuation of the NDA submission and the cliniatl manufacturing procedures and
facilities is not favorable, the FDA may refuseafiprove the NDA and issue a not approvable letter.

The manufacturers of approved products and themufia@turing facilities are subject to continualiezv and periodic inspections.
Because we intend to contract with third partiesti@anufacturing of these products, our controlafpliance with FDA requirements may be
incomplete. In addition, identification of certaite effects or the occurrence of manufacturindgleros after any of our drugs are on the
market could cause subsequent product recall, ofise@nce, or withdrawal of approval, reformulatmfithe drug, additional preclinical testi
or clinical studies and labeling changes.

The FDA'’s policies may change, and additional governmentlations may be enacted that could prevent orydelgulatory approval f
our products. We cannot predict the likelihoodunator extent of adverse governmental regulatiantight arise from future legislative or
administrative action, either in the United Staiesbroad.

The Hatch-Waxman Act

The Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoraict of 1984, or Hatch-Waxman Act, amended teddtal Food, Drug, and
Cosmetic Act (the “FDCA”). Under the Hatch-WaxmantAnewly-approved drugs and indications may béfefin a statutory period of non-
patent marketing exclusivity. The Hatch-Waxman puivides five year marketing exclusivity to thesfiepplicant to gain approval of an NDA
for a new chemical entity, meaning that the FDA haispreviously approved any other new drug coimgithe same active moiety. However,
in the case of a combination drug containing a obamical entity and a non-new chemical entity,
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five year exclusivity does not attach to the newrltal entity. The Hatch-Waxman Act prohibits thkemission of an Abbreviated NDA, or
ANDA, for a generic drug, or a Section 505(b)(2) Abr another version of such drug during the fjgar exclusive period. However, the
submission of an ANDA or Section 505(b)(2) NDA caining a paragraph IV certification claiming thagtatent listed in the FDA’s Approved
Drug Products with Therapeutic Equivalence Evatretj or Orange Book, for the drug is invalid orlwit be infringed by the manufacture,
use or sale of the new product is permitted afiar {ears. The submission of a paragraph IV cedtiion may trigger a 30-month stay of
approval of the ANDA or Section 505(b)(2) NDA. Rrotion under Hatch-Waxman will not prevent the sigision or approval of another full
NDA; however, the applicant would be required taduact its own preclinical and adequate and -controlled clinical studies to demonstrate
safety and effectiveness. The Hatch-Waxman Act aitewides three years of marketing exclusivitytfog approval of new and supplemental
NDAs, for, among other things, new indications,ages forms, or strengths of an existing drug, if méinical investigations that we
conducted or sponsored by the applicant are essémthe approval of the application.

IPLEX is currently protected by a three year exwitys period for the treatment of severe primaryk& deficiency, which expires on
December 12, 2008. This exclusivity runs conculyenith a seven year period of orphan drug excliagjwhich prevents the FDA from
approving another marketing application for the sairug for the same indication, except in the Baitircumstances described below. In
addition, the FDA's Orange Book publication liststpatents covering IPLEX to which a generic agpitcmust certify.

Orphan Drug Designation and Exclusivity

Some jurisdictions, including the European Uniod #re United States, may designate drugs for velgtsmall patient populations as
orphan drugs. The FDA grants orphan drug designatiairugs intended to treat a rare disease oritondhat affects fewer than 200,000
individuals in the United States or more than 200,dividuals in the United States and for whiklre is no reasonable expectation that the
cost of developing and making available in the etiBtates a drug for this type of disease or ciomditill be recovered from sales in the
United States for that drug. In the United Stadeghan drug designation must be requested beftraitting an application for marketing
approval. Orphan drug designation does not conugyadvantage in, or shorten the duration of, tigeletory review and approval process.
product that has orphan drug designation subselgueatives the first FDA approval for the indicatifor which it has such designation, the
product is entitled to orphan drug exclusivity, alihimeans the FDA may not approve any other appitéd market the same drug for the
same indication for a period of seven years, exicelimited circumstances, such as a showing oficdil superiority (superior efficacy, safety,
or a major contribution to patient care) to thedarct with orphan drug exclusivity. Also, competi#ionay receive approval of different drugs or
biologics for the indications for which the orphdnug has exclusivity.

We have received orphan designation for IPLEX ffier treatment of MMD. We also intend to file for bgm drug designation IPLEX for
other indications that meet the criteria for orpkamg designation and for which IPLEX appears t@lpeomising treatment. If the FDA
designates the drug and approves our marketingcafiph, or approves marketing applications underemt designations, we will be granted
seven years of orphan drug exclusivity for the darghe designated indication. Obtaining FDA ap@ido market a product with orphan drug
exclusivity may not provide us with a material coergial advantage.

Under European Union medicine laws, the criterrad@signation as an “orphan medicine” are similardmmewhat different from those
in the United States. A drug is designated as pha drug if the sponsor can establish that thg drintended for a life-threatening or
chronically debilitating condition affecting no neothan five in 10,000 persons in the European Unidhat is unlikely to be profitable, and if
there is no approved satisfactory treatment drafdrug would be a significant benefit to thosespas with the condition. Orphan medicines
entitled to ten years of market exclusivity, exceptler certain limited circumstances comparablédrtited States law. During this period of
market exclusivity, no “similar” product, whether mot supported by full safety and efficacy datdl e approved unless a second applicant
can establish that its product is safer,
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more effective or otherwise clinically superior.iJperiod may be reduced to six years if the comattthat originally justified orphan drug
designation change or the sponsor makes excessfits pWe have obtained orphan medicine designdtidghe European Union for IPLEX 1
the treatment of extreme insulin resistance.

Other Regulatory Requirements

We may also be subject to a number of post-appmegailatory requirements. If we seek to make certhanges to an approved product,
such as promoting or labeling a product for a neaiciation, making certain manufacturing changegroduct enhancements or adding labe
claims, we will need FDA review and approval beftire change can be implemented. While physiciansusa products for indications that
have not been approved by the FDA, we may not labpfomote the product for an indication that hasbeen approved. Securing FDA
approval for new indications or product enhancesiant, in some cases, for manufacturing and ladpelaims, is generally a time-consuming
and expensive process that may require us to coctinical studies under the FDA's IND regulatiofiszen if such studies are conducted, the
FDA may not approve any change in a timely fashaorgt all. In addition, adverse experiences assediwith use of the products must be
reported to the FDA, and FDA rules govern how we ledel, advertise or otherwise commercialize oodpcts.

Outside the United States, our ability to marketneducts will also depend on receiving marketinghorizations from the appropriate
regulatory authorities. The requirements govertivggconduct of clinical studies and marketing atit&ion vary widely from country to
country. The foreign regulatory approval procesduides risks similar to those associated with FpAraval described above.

FOLLOW -ON BIOLOGICS

For historical reasons, some biologic pharmacelgtisaich as human insulin and human growth hormaresapproved under FDCA,
while most other biologic pharmaceuticals are appdounder the Public Health Services Act (the “PHBrough the submission of biologic
license applications (“BLAs”). The Hatch-Waxman Aainended the FDCA and established an abbreviatedeal pathway for generic
versions of referenced drug products approved uRDEIA. Although the FDA has recognized an abbredatpproval pathway for generic
versions of biologic pharmaceuticals approved utigei=DCA, the FDA has not yet recognized an alibted regulatory pathway that would
enable the timely and cost-efficient approval diiofw-on biologics. We and other companies are wuagkiith Congress and the FDA to
overcome this barrier. We are committed to workimgard a streamlined regulatory approval proceaswiil ensure that we can bring follow-
on biologics to market that have been approved nigePHS since 1997.

During fiscal 2006, there were several significdevelopments in the follown biologics area. While Congress and the FDA ootito reviev
options for a regulatory pathway for follow-on lagics in the United States, the European Medickgency has already moved forward,
publishing guidelines in November 2005 to streamtime process for approving follow-on biologicghe European Union. Following
publication of these guidelines, the European Casaion granted marketing authorization in the Euaopédnion for two follow-on biologics,
Sandoz’s Omnitrop&in April 2006 and Biopartner’s Valtropihin May 2006, both of which are recombinant humaswgh hormone product

EMPLOYEES

At December 31, 2007, we had 94 employees, inctudlihin research and development, 31 in regulatdinical and quality assurance,
29 in manufacturing, and 17 in finance and admiafiin.

Our continued success will depend in large measur@ur ability to attract and retain highly skillethployees who are in great demand.
None of our employees are represented by a lalionamd we believe that our relations with our emgpkes are generally goc
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Available Information

We file electronically with the U.S. Securities aBxchange Commission, or SEC, our annual reportSsoom 10-K, quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amemdsn® those reports filed or furnished pursuar@ection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. We make available on our welas http://www.insmed.com, free of charge, cepiéthese reports as soon as
reasonably practicable after filing these repoiith vor furnishing them to, the SEC.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our operating results and financial condition haxegied in the past and may in the future vary digantly depending on a number of
factors. Except for the historical information imig report, the matters contained in this repoctlude forwarclooking statements that involve
risks and uncertainties. The following factors, amothers, could cause actual results to differemiatly from those contained in forward-
looking statements made in this report and preskateewhere by management from time to time. Swtbr§, among others, may have a
material adverse effect upon our business, resiiltperations and financial condition.

In Item 1A (“Risk Factors”) of our Quarterly Repaoh Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended Septem3Be 2007, which was filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on Nove&2807, we describe risk factors related to thenpany. Our updated risk factors are
included below in this Item 1A.

You should consider carefully the following riskttas, together with all of the other informatiarciuded in this annual report on Form
10-K. Each of these risk factors could adversdigcafour business, operating results and financa@idition, as well as adversely affect the
value of an investment in our common stock.

We will need additional funds in the future to cantie our operations, but we face uncertainties witkspect to our access to capital that
could materially adversely impact our business,dircial condition and results of operations.

We will require substantial future capital in ordeimplement our revised business plan with awetfocus on research and
development activities. As of December 31, 2007 hag $16.5 million of cash and investments on harich we believe is sufficient to fund
our activities into the fourth quarter of 2008. Haxer, our future capital requirements will depenchtany factors, including factors associated
with:

. research and development, including, among otberst preclinical testing and clinical studi
. process developmer

. obtaining marketing, sales and distribution ca !,

. obtaining regulatory approval

. retaining employees and consultal

. filing and prosecuting patent applications and esifg patent claims

. establishing strategic alliance

. manufacturing; an

. potential future litigation

We may also need to spend more money than currexplgcted because we may further change our aligrdkevelopment plans, acqu
additional drugs or drug candidates or we may rdgguour costs. We have no committed sources ofatapid do not know whether additio
financing will be available when needed, or, ifitadale, that the terms will be favorable. There bamo assurance that our cash reserves
together with any subsequent funding will satisfy capital requirements. The failure to satisfy capital requirements will adversely affect
our business, financial condition and results adragions. Our independent registered public acéogfirm has expressed their view that there
are material uncertainties which cast significamilat upon our ability to continue as a going conc&he addition of this going concern
disclosure may discourage investors from purchasumgtock.

We may seek additional funding through stratediarates, private or public sales of our securitieficensing all or a portion of our
technology. Such funding may significantly dilutdsting shareholders or may limit our rights to eurrently developing technology. There
can be no assurance, however, that we can obtain
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additional funding on reasonable terms, or atifalle cannot obtain adequate funds, we may nesggtoficantly curtail our product
development programs and relinquish rights to eanmologies or drug candidates. This may adveedfédgt our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

We are entering into a new market area, the contswf which are unclear, the result of which couldaie a material adverse affect on our
business.

Our future success depends to a significant exteon our ability to develop and market and licemserging and new products,
including follow-on biologics. The market for folleon biologics is very uncertain at this time, &is ibased on technologies that have not been
formally reviewed or accepted by the FDA or otregulatory authorities. It is possible that the FBAéview and acceptance of our new
products may take time and resources, require gratgnt third-party analysis or not be acceptechbyFDA or other regulatory authorities.
Moreover, consumer demand for new product categsueh as follow-on biologics is inherently unciertd@here can be no assurance that we
will successfully develop and market follow-on laigics, or that we will ever achieve significanteaues or operating income from follow-on
biologics, or if significant revenues are achiewddt they can be sustained. The failure of ouo¥elon biologics to be accepted by consumers
and achieve revenues could have a material adeéfeset on our business prospects, financial coowlitind results of operations.

If the FDA does not establish specific guidelinesarrive at a consensus regarding the scientificalpses required for characterizing follc-
on biologics, and if the U.S. Congress does notealction to create an abbreviated regulatory pattwiar follow-on biologics, our business
would be adversely affected.

The regulatory climate for follow-on biologics remsiunclear. Although there has been some legislatttivity in the past, there is
currently no established statutory or regulatothway for approval of follow-on biologics. The FO#as approved the majority of protein
products under the Public Health Service Act, oSPtirough the use of biologic license applicatji@iBLAs. Unlike drugs approved through
the submission of NDAs under section 505 of thedr@yug and Cosmetic Act, or the FDCA, there ipnovision in the PHS for an
abbreviated BLA approval pathway, and the FDA hated that it does not believe it has the authaatsely on prior BLA approvals or their
underlying data to approve a follow-on biologic. Mover, even for proteins initially approved as Nthere is uncertainty as to what data the
FDA may deem necessary to demonstrate the samestgessed for approval of an ANDA under section 50P6f the FDCA. In addition, there
has been opposition to the FDA'’s use of sectior(ty)(8), which allows an applicant to rely on infation from published scientific literature
and/or a prior approval of a similar drug, to apra follow-on biologic approved under section B®%he FDCA.

Although the FDA has previously stated its intentio draft guidance that is broadly applicableditofv-on biologics, the agency has not
yet issued such guidance to date and may neves.deratracted timelines and failure of the FDA $tablish standards for approval of foll-
on biologics or of the U.S. Congress to enact latia establishing an abbreviated pathway for apairfor follow-on biologics could
materially adversely affect our business, resultsperations and financial position.

The Italian Health Authority may refuse to pay fdPLEX used by patients in Italy under our Expandestcess Program, which could have
a material adverse effect on our business, finarlatandition and results of operations.

At present the Italian Health Authority approvelsdalilg payments for IPLEX used by Italian patientth ALS in Italy as part of our
Expanded Access Program. Should the Italian Hefalthority decide to stop approving IPLEX for ALSwbuld significantly affect our cash
position and could require us to raise funds sotmar anticipated, which may only be availables®n less than favorable terms.
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We have not completed the research and developratge of any of our product candidates. If we aneable to successfully commercialize
our products, it will materially adversely affectio business, financial condition and results of oions.

Our long-term viability and growth depend on thecssful commercialization of products which leadevenue and profits.
Pharmaceutical product development is an expeniigh,risk, lengthy, complicated, resource inteagivocess. In order to succeed, among
other things, we must be able to:

. identify potential drug product candidat

. design and conduct appropriate laboratory, prezdirand other researc

. submit for and receive regulatory approval to penfalinical studies

. design and conduct appropriate preclinical andadirstudies according to good laboratory and gducal practices

. select and recruit clinical investigato

. select and recruit subjects for our stud

. collect, analyze and correctly interpret the datanfour studies

. submit for and receive regulatory approvals forketing; anc

. manufacture the drug product candidates accordingMP.

The development program with respect to any giveduyct will take many years and thus delay ouritghid generate profits. In additic
potential products that appear promising at eddges of development may fail for a number of reasmcluding the possibility that the
products may require significant additional testimgurn out to be unsafe, ineffective, too difficor expensive to develop or manufacture, too
difficult to administer, or unstable.

In order to conduct the development programs forpoaducts we must, among other things, be abdmitoessfully:

. raise sufficient money and pay for the developnoénihe product:

. attract and retain appropriate personnel;

. develop relationships with other companies to perfearious development activities that we are uaablperform

Even if we are successful in developing and obtgimipproval for our product candidates, there arearous circumstances that could
prevent the successful commercialization of thelpets such as:

. the regulatory approvals of our products are delayeve are required to conduct further researchd@velopment of our produc
prior to receiving regulatory approvi

. we are unable to build a sales and marketing gtogpiccessfully launch and sell our produ

. we are unable to raise the additional funds neéalsdccessfully develop and commercialize our petlar acquire addition:
products for growth

. we are required to allocate available funds tgdition matters

. we are unable to manufacture the quantity of prodaeeded in accordance with current good manufactyoractices to met
market demand, or at a

. our product is determined to be ineffective or d@gallowing approval and is removed from the marewe are required to
perform additional research and development tdhé&urprove the safety and effectiveness of the plefore re-entry into the
market;
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. competition from other products or technologies/pres or reduces market acceptance of our proc

. we do not have and cannot obtain the intellectuapgrty rights needed to manufacture or markefpooducts without infringing o
another compar's patents

. we are unsuccessful in defending against patenibg@ment claims being brought against us our petsdor technologies; «

. we are unable to obtain reimbursement for our ptbdusuch reimbursement may be less than is negessproduce a reasonal
profit.

Our growth strategy includes the commercializattbmore than one product. We may not be able totifjeand acquire complementary
products, businesses or technologies and if aadjoiréicensed, they might not improve our businéasncial condition or results of
operations. The failure to successfully acquireettep and commercialize products will adverselyeffour business, financial condition and
results of operations.

We have a history of operating losses and an exatah that we will generate operating losses foetforeseeable future, we may not
achieve profitability for some time, if at all.

We are a development stage company with expertipeotein recombinant drug development. We haveried losses each year of
operation and we expect to continue incurring ojregdosses for the foreseeable future. The prooédsveloping and commercializing our
products requires significant pre-clinical testargl clinical trials as well as regulatory approvalscommercialization and marketing before
we are allowed to begin product sales. In addittmmmercialization of our drug candidates require$o establish a sales and marketing
organization and contractual relationships to emgbbduct manufacturing and other related actwitife expect that these activities, together
with our general and administrative expenses,nedililt in substantial operating losses for thedeeable future. As of December 31, 2007, our
accumulated deficit was $331 million and for theryended December 31, 2007 our consolidated netas $20 million.

The Nasdaq Capital Market may cease to list our ¢oon stock which may cause the value of an investiriarour common stock to
substantially decreast¢

We may be unable to meet the continued listingireqents of the Nasdag Capital Market in the futiiee maintain the listing of our
common stock, we are required, among other thilogsiaintain a daily closing bid price per shar&df00. In a letter dated June 13, 2007,
while our common stock was still listed on the Nas&lobal Market, the Nasdaq Listing Qualificat®taff (the “Staff”) notified us of our
failure to comply with Marketplace Rule 4450(a)fcause our shares of common stock had faileds® @t a price of at least $1.00 per share
for thirty consecutive business days (the “MinimBid Price Rule”). We were afforded one hundred sigtays to regain compliance with the
Minimum Bid Price Rule in accordance with Market@aRule 4803(a). By letter (the “Staff Determinatjodated December 20, 2007, the
Staff notified us that we had failed to regain ctiamre with the Minimum Bid Price Rule and that shares of common stock would be
delisted from the Nasdaq Stock Market on DecemhePB07 if we did not transfer listing to the Nagdzapital Market or appeal the Staff
Determination to a Nasdaq Hearings Panel (the ‘PaiBy letter dated December 26, 2007, we requkstbearing with respect to its
continued listing on the Nasdaqg Global Market, assailt of which Nasdaq stayed the suspension alistidg of our common stock pending
the determination of the Panel. On January 24, 200&ttended a hearing with the Panel and on Feb&¥a 2008 we received a determinat
letter from the Panel notifying us that our stoakud be transferred to the Nasdaq Capital Marké&irbehe open of the market on February
2008, which has since transpired. We have untiéJii) 2008 to regain compliance with the Minimurd Brice Rule. If we do not regain
compliance with the Minimum Bid Price Rule by Jurg 2008, Nasdaq will provide written notificatitmat our common stock will be delisted
for the Nasdaq Capital Market. Delisting of our eoon stock from the Nasdaq Capital Market could esblg affect the trading price of our
common stock and could limit the liquidity of ouwramon stock and therefore could cause the valaa dfivestment in our common stock to
decrease.
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In order to regain compliance with the Minimum Bi@rice Rule we may be required to implement a reeestock split, which could have
material adverse effect on our stock price.

Should we not regain compliance with the Nasdagjmiim Bid Price Rule before June 12, 2008, we maseheired to implement a
reverse stock split in order for our shares of camrstock to remain listed on the Nasdaq Capitalketamvhich could be viewed negatively by
the market and have an adverse affect on our giocé.

If our products fail in pre-clinical or clinical trials or if we cannot enrollenough patients to complete our clinical trialsych failure may
adversely affect our business, financial conditi@md results of operations.

In order to sell our products, we must receive k&iguy approval. Before obtaining regulatory apgisvfor the commercial sale of any of
our products under development, we must demongtredagh preclinical studies and clinical trials that the pratlis safe and effective for u
in each target indication. In addition, the restrten pre<linical testing and early clinical trials may rim predictive of results obtained in la
clinical trials. There can be no assurance thatbuical trials will demonstrate sufficient safeapd effectiveness to obtain regulatory apprc
for our products still in development. A numbercofnpanies in the biotechnology and pharmaceutichlstries have suffered significant
setbacks in late stage clinical trials even aftenpsing results in early stage development. If @ewvelopmental products fail in pre-clinical or
clinical trials, it will have an adverse effect our business, financial condition and results adrafions.

The completion rate of clinical studies of our prots is dependent on, among other factors, thematnroliment rate. Patient enroliment
is a function of many factors, including:

. investigator identification and recruitme

. regulatory approvals to initiate study sit

. patient population siz¢

. the nature of the protocol to be used in the t

. patient proximity to clinical sites

. eligibility criteria for the study; an

. competition from other compan’ clinical studies for the same patient populat

We believe our planned procedures for enrollingepds are appropriate; however, delays in patiardlbnent would increase costs and

delay ultimate commercialization and sales, if afygur products. Such delays could materially asely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

We may be required to conduct broad, long-term @ trials to address concerns that the long-tetrse of one of our leading products,
IPLEX, in broader chronic indications might increasthe risk of diabetic retinopathy. This may matay adversely affect our busines
financial condition and results of operation:

In previously published clinical trials of rhIGF-dgncerns were raised that long-term use of rhiGRight lead to an increased incidence
and/or severity of retinopathy, a disease of nevathivessel growth in the eye which results in ifsgsion. Because IPLEX contains rhiGF-I,
the FDA may require us to conduct broad, long-telimical trials to address these concerns priaeteiving FDA approval for broad chronic
indications such as diabetes. These clinical tredald be expensive and could delay our commereititn of IPLEX for these broader chronic
indications. Adverse results in these trials cqarievent our commercialization of IPLEX for broadahic indications or could jeopardize
existing development in other indications.
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We cannot be certain that we will obtain regulatoapprovals in the United States, European Unionather countries. The failure to obtain
such approvals may materially adversely affect daursiness, financial condition and results of opei@ts.

We are required to obtain various regulatory apaioprior to studying our products in humans arehthgain before we market and
distribute our products. The regulatory review apgroval process required to perform a clinicadigtin both the United States and European
Union includes evaluation of preclinical studies &tinical studies, as well as the evaluation af manufacturing process. This process is
complex, lengthy, expensive, resource intensivelamartain. Securing regulatory approval to madeetproducts also requires the submission
of extensive preclinical and clinical data, mantfiging information regarding the process and fagikcientific data characterizing our product
and other supporting data to the regulatory autiesrin order to establish its safety and effectess. This process is also complex, lengthy,
expensive, resource intensive and uncertain. We lianited experience in filing and pursuing applicas necessary to gain these regulatory
approvals.

Data submitted to the regulators is subject to mgrinterpretations that could delay, limit or peew regulatory agency approval. We may
also encounter delays or rejections based on ckangegulatory agency policies during the perioavhich we develop a product and the
period required for review of any application fegulatory agency approval of a particular prodDetlays in obtaining regulatory agency
approvals could adversely affect the developmedtraarketing of any drugs that we or our collabeapartners develop. Such delays could
impose costly procedures on our collaborative gastror our activities, diminish any competitivevadtages that our collaborative partners or
we may attain and adversely affect our abilitydoaive royalties, any of which could materially arsely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

In order to market our products outside of the &hiStates and European Union, our corporate paramgt we must comply with
numerous and varying regulatory requirements oéotiountries. The approval procedures vary amongtdes and can involve additional
product testing and administrative review periddse time required to obtain approval in these otégitories might differ from that required
to obtain FDA or European Agency for the Evaluatidedicinal Products, or EMEA, approval. The riegory approval process in these
other territories includes at least all of the sisissociated with obtaining FDA and EMEA approwhded above. Approval by the FDA or the
EMEA does not ensure approval by the regulatorparities of other countries. The failure to obtairch approvals may materially adversely
affect our business, financial condition and resaftoperations.

We may not be able to manufacture sufficient qudigs of our products to meet our supply and clinictudies obligations, our business,
financial condition and results of operation may kalversely affectec

We intend to manufacture IPLEX and rhiIGFBP-3 clahidrug substance and perform the majority of aiytesting at our
manufacturing facility in Boulder, Colorado, andlimé contract manufacturers for sterile filterirfigljng, finishing, labeling and some
analytical testing. We intend to manufacture INS8wlith contract manufacturers.

We also intend to manufacture our follow-on biotsgdrug candidates at our Boulder Colorado. fgcilftwe enter into a partnership for
FOB'’s the partnership may require the Boulder Cador facility to be dedicated to the manufacture©B’s which would have a materially
adverse impact on our proprietary protein platform.

The available capacity for the manufacture andrtgsif recombinant proteins that comprise our potslis limited. A shutdown or
disruption at our manufacturing facility whetheredwo technical, regulatory, force majeure, or offreblems, resulting in an interruption in
supply of these materials, could delay our develapractivities and adversely impact our busingsantial condition and results of
operations.

The number of contract manufacturers with the eigeeand facilities to manufacture our productinisted and it would take a
significant amount of time and resources to arrdngalternative manufacturers.
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Even if we were to find alternative manufacturéing, prices they charge may not be commerciallyorgsle or may only be able to provide
products in a quantity that is less than our needeghermore, if we need to change to other contremufacturers, we would also need to
transfer to these new manufacturers and validat@thcesses and analytical methods necessaryef@raidluction and testing of our products.
Any of these factors could lead to (1) the delagwuspension of our clinical studies, regulatorymsisisions and regulatory approvals, or

(2) higher costs of production, or (3) our failtoeeffectively commercialize our products.

Our manufacturing facility and the facilities ofrttact manufacturers must undergo inspections &yDA and the EMEA for
compliance with cGMP regulations. In the event éiiegilities do not continue to receive satisfagtw&MP inspections for the manufacture
and testing of our products, we may need to furditiathal modifications to our manufacturing or tegtprocesses, conduct additional
validation studies, or find alternative manufaatgrand testing facilities, any of which would resnlsignificant cost to us as well as a
significant delay of up to several years in theaedlepment of our products. In addition, our manuféog facility and the facilities of any
contract manufacturer we may utilize, will be sabj® ongoing periodic inspection by the FDA, tHdEA and other foreign agencies for
compliance with cGMP regulations and similar foreggandards. We have limited control over contma@hufacturers’ compliance with these
regulations and standards which could limit ourdoietion of final drug product.

If our products fail to achieve market acceptanaar fany reason, such failure may materially advergeffect our business, financie
condition and results of operations.

There can be no assurance that any of our prodnclidates if approved for marketing, will achievarket acceptance. If our product
candidates, once approved, do not receive markepsance for any reason, it will adversely affaat lousiness, financial condition and results
of operations. The degree of market acceptancaytleugs we develop will depend on a number ofdfiastincluding:

. the establishment and demonstration in the medaaimunity of the clinical efficacy and safety ofrquoducts;
. our product’ potential advantages over existing and future tneat methods

. the price of our products; al

. reimbursement policies of government and t-party payers, including hospitals and insurancepaomes

For example, even after we obtain regulatory apgrtivsell our products, physicians and healthpageers could conclude that our
products are not safe and effective and physiaan#d choose not to use them to treat patients.comnpetitors may also develop new
technologies or products which are more effectiviess costly, or that seem more cost-effective thar products.

In addition, legislation and regulations affectthg pricing of pharmaceuticals may change in walygese to us. While we cannot pres
the likelihood of any legislative or regulatory pasals, if the government or an agency adopts graposals, they could materially adversely
affect our business, financial condition and resaftoperations.

We are dependent upon retaining and attracting ksgrsonnel and others, the loss of which could maadly adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operation:

We depend highly on the principal members of oigrgidic and management staff, the loss of whoseises might significantly delay «
prevent the achievement of research, developmedniginess objectives and would materially advera#figct our business, financial condition
and results of operations. Our success depentiggia part, on our ability to attract and retaimlified management, scientific and medical
personnel, and on our ability to develop and mairitaportant relationships with commercial partnéesding research institutions and key
distributors. We face intense competition for spehsonnel and relationships. We cannot assurevihatill attract and retain such persons or
maintain such relationships.
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We expect that our potential expansion into areasaativities requiring additional expertise, sashfurther clinical trials, governmental
approvals, manufacturing, sales, marketing andibligton will place additional requirements on enanagement, operational and financial
resources. We expect these demands will requireca@ase in management and scientific personnetrendevelopment of additional exper
by existing management personnel. The failurettaetand retain such personnel or to develop swplertise could materially adversely affect
our business, financial condition and results adfrafions.

We rely on collaborative relationships for our suess. If we are unable to form these relationshipsauld materially adversely impact our
business, financial condition and results of opei@ts.

We currently rely and may in the future rely onuemtber of significant collaborative relationships ifiotellectual property rights, research
funding, manufacturing, analytical services, prackl development, clinical development and satesraarketing. For example, almost all of
our clinical trial work is done in collaboration tiacademic institutions and we have licensedlatglal property to permit the development,
manufacture and commercialization of our produgtdiance on collaborative relationships poses alaurof risks, including the following:

. we may not be able to effectively control whether corporate partners will devote sufficient resmsrto our programs or produr

. disputes may arise in the future with respect éoaWwnership of rights to technology developed witgnsed to or licensed fro
corporate partner:

. disagreements with corporate partners could r@sidiss of intellectual property rights, delay errhinate the research, developn
or commercialization of product candidates or reisulitigation or arbitration

. contracts with our corporate partners may failnovjple sufficient protection of our intellectualoperty;
. we may have difficulty enforcing the contracts fifecof these partners fails to perfor

. corporate partners have considerable discreti@teicting whether to pursue the development of autianal products and may
pursue technologies or products either on their onin collaboration with our competitors; a

. corporate partners with marketing rights may chdosgevote fewer resources to the marketing ofppaducts than they do to
products of their own developme

Given these risks, a great deal of uncertaintytexegarding the success of our current and fudtolfeborative efforts. Failure of these
efforts could delay, impair or prevent the develeptrand commercialization of our products and asbigraffect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Our growth strategy includes acquiring complemenyarusinesses or technologies that may not be awdar, if available and purchased
or licensed, might not improve our business, finaalccondition or results of operations.

As part of our business strategy, we expect toymieequisitions and in-license new products anahtglogies. Nonetheless, we cannot
assure you that we will identify suitable acquasit or products or that we can make such acquisitio enter into such license agreements on
acceptable terms. If we acquire businesses, thosiedsses may require substantial capital, andaweat provide assurance that such capital
will be available in sufficient amounts or thatdircing will be available in amounts and on ternad the deem acceptable. Furthermore, the
integration of acquired businesses may result foreseen difficulties that require a disproporti@mamount of managemestttention and ol
other resources. Finally, we cannot provide assgrémat we will achieve productive synergies ariitiehcies from these acquisitions.
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We intend to conduct proprietary development progravith collaborators, and any conflicts with theould harm our business, financ
condition and results of operations. We intendriteeinto collaborative relationships which willivlve our collaborators conducting
proprietary development programs. Any conflict watlr collaborators could reduce our ability to difaiture collaboration agreements and
negatively influence our relationship with existiogllaborators, which could reduce our revenuestewe an adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations. Muwer, disagreements with our collaborators coulcelig over rights to our intellectual
property.

Certain of our collaborators could also be or bee@ampetitors. Our collaborators could harm oudpob development efforts by:
. developing competing produc

. precluding us from entering into collaborationshatthieir competitors

. failing to obtain regulatory approva

. terminating their agreements with us prematuref

. failing to devote sufficient resources to the depehent and commercialization of produt

We may not accurately predict the protection affediby our patents and proprietary technology anaifr predictions are wrong, this may
materially adversely affect our business, financ@ndition and results of operations.

Our success will depend in part on our ability bdain patent protection for our products, prevairttparties from infringing on our
patents, and refrain from infringing on the pataftsthers, both domestically and internationally.

Our patent positions are highly uncertain, andfahyre patents we receive for our potential prodwetl be subject to this uncertainty,
which may adversely affect our business, finanoialdition and results of operations. We intenddiivaly pursue patent protection for
products resulting from our research and developmetivities that have significant potential comuial value. Nevertheless, it is possible t
in the patent application process, certain clairay be rejected or achieve such limited allowane¢ tte value of the patents would be
diminished. Further, there can be no assuranceattyapatents obtained will afford us adequate ptmte. In addition, any patents we procure
may require cooperation with companies holdingteelpatents. We may have difficulty forming a swssfel relationship with these other
companies.

Third parties may claim that we are infringing upmrhave misappropriated their proprietary righarious third parties have obtained,
and are attempting to obtain, patent protectioatirgy to the production and use of our approvedpcband product candidates. We can give
no assurances as to whether any issued patemiateots that may later issue to third parties, waffect our contemplated commercialization
of IPLEX or any other product. We can give no aasues that such patents can be avoided, invalidetécensed. With respect to any
infringement claim asserted by a third party, we geve no assurances that we will be successfili@nitigation or that such litigation would
not have a material adverse effect on our busifiessicial condition and results of operation. e £vent of a successful claim against us for
infringement or misappropriation of a third partpprietary rights, we may be required to:

. pay damages, including up to treble damages, andttrer part’s attorney’ fees, which may be substanti
. cease the development, manufacture, marketingaledsproducts or use of processes that infrihgegproprietary rights of other

. expend significant resources to redesign our prisdorcour processes so that they do not infringeptioprietary rights of other
which may not be possibl
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. redesign our products or processes to avoid thart/proprietary rights, we may suffer significaegulatory delays associated w
conducting additional clinical trials or other stdp obtain regulatory approval; a

. obtain one or more licenses arising out of a satl of litigation or otherwise from third partites the infringed proprietary right
which may not be available to us on acceptablegemat all.

Furthermore, litigation with any third party, eviéthe allegations are without merit, would likddg expensive and time-consuming and
divert management’s attention.

Any conclusions we may have reached regarding nfsimgement and invalidity are based in part oexdaw of publicly available
databases and other information. There may berirdtion not available to us or otherwise not revigWwg us that might change our
conclusions. Moreover, as described above, theesang validity of patent claims are determined 8asemany facts and circumstances, and
in a litigation, a court may reach a different dostn on any given patent claim than the conchisithat we have reached.

In addition, we may have to undertake costly liiggato enforce any patents issued or licensedtoruo determine the scope and vali
of another party’s proprietary rights. We can gineassurances that a court of competent jurisdiatiould validate our issued or licensed
patents. An adverse outcome in litigation or apriigrence or other proceeding in a court or paiéfite could materially adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of openat

We operate in a highly competitive environment aifisdve are unable to adapt to our environment, we yriae unable to compete successft
which will materially adversely affect our businedinancial condition and results of operations.

Biotechnology and related pharmaceutical technolwgye undergone and should continue to experieapid and significant change. We
expect that the technologies associated with biotelogy research and development will continueeteetbp rapidly. Our future success will
depend in large part on our ability to maintairoapetitive position with respect to these techni@sgAny compounds, products or processes
that we develop may become obsolete before we ee@wy expenses incurred in connection with theietbpment. Rapid technological
change could make our products obsolete, whichdomalterially adversely affect our business, finahcondition and results of operations.

We expect that successful competition will depemdong other things, on product efficacy, safetljaldity, availability, timing and
scope of regulatory approval and price. Specificalle expect crucial factors will include the rélatspeed with which we can develop
products, complete the clinical testing and reguiaapproval processes and supply commercial qigstf the product to the market. We
expect competition to increase as technologicahades are made and commercial applications bro&deach of our potential product areas,
we face substantial competition from large pharroticel, biotechnology and other companies, univiesiand research institutions. Relativ
us, most of these entities have substantially gre=gtpital resources, research and developmefd,dtdilities and experience in conducting
clinical studies and obtaining regulatory approyvatswell as in manufacturing and marketing phaeutcal products. Many of our
competitors may achieve product commercializatiopatent protection earlier than us. Furthermoepelieve that our competitors have u:
and may continue to use, litigation to gain a cotitipe advantage. Finally, our competitors may dggerent technologies or approaches to the
development of products similar to the productsaneseeking to develop.

Competitors could develop and gain FDA approvalpsbducts containing rhiIGF-1, which could adversedffect our competitive position in
all indications where we are currently developinBILEX.

rhiIGF-1 manufactured by other parties may be apgdor use in other indications in the United Statethe future, including MMD and
HARS. In the event there are other rhiIGF-1 prodapizroved by the FDA to
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treat indications other than those covered by IPLX/sicians may elect to prescribe a competitorigluct containing rhlGF-1 to treat the
indications for which IPLEX has received and mageiee approval. This is commonly referred to aslalfiel use. While under FDA

regulations a competitor is not allowed to promaffdabel use of its product, the FDA does not fatpithe practice of medicine and as a result
cannot direct physicians as to what product coimgirhlGF-L to prescribe to their patients. As a result, veaeid have limited ability to preve
off-label use of a competitor’'s product containih§GF-1 to treat any diseases for which we have recdii2@8l approval, even if it violates o
patents and we have orphan drug exclusivity foutheof rhiGF-1 to treat such diseases.

If another party obtains orphan drug exclusivity f@a product that is essentially the same as a protwe are developing in a particule
indication, we may be precluded or delayed from c¢oertcializing the product in that indication. This ay materially adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of opei@s.

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orptiarg designation to drugs intended to treat adaease or condition, which is
generally a disease or condition that affects fetvan 200,000 individuals in the United States. Gtmpany that obtains the first marketing
approval from the FDA for a designated orphan douga rare disease receives marketing exclusiatyse of that drug for the designated
condition for a period of seven years. Similar laxgst in EU. If a competitor obtains approval lné same drug for the same indication or
disease before us, we would be blocked from obtgiapproval for our product for seven or more yeangess our product can be shown to be
clinically superior. In addition, more than one gimay be approved by the FDA for the same orphdicédtion or disease as long as the drugs
are different drugs. As a result, even if our prdds approved and receives orphan drug exclusiagyin the case of our drug IPLEX, the FDA
can still approve different drugs for use in tregtihe same indication or disease covered by amdyat, which could create a more competitive
market for us.

Confidentiality agreements with employees and otheray not adequately prevent disclosure of tradersts and other proprietary
information. Disclosure of this information may matially adversely affect our business, financial rdition and results of operations.

In order to protect our proprietary technology @nocesses, we rely in part on confidentiality agrests with our corporate partners,
employees, consultants, outside scientific collatms and sponsored researchers and other advismse agreements may not effectively
prevent disclosure of confidential information andy not provide an adequate remedy in the eveanafithorized disclosure of confidential
information. In addition, others may independenlilycover trade secrets and proprietary informat@ostly and time-consuming litigation
could be necessary to enforce and determine tipesafoour proprietary rights, and failure to obtaimmaintain trade secret protection could
adversely affect our competitive business, findraadition and results of operations.

Our research, development and manufacturing actie# involve the use of hazardous materials, whichultl expose us to damages that
could materially adversely affect our business,dimcial condition and results of operations.

Our research, development and manufacturing aetvitivolve the controlled use of hazardous mdteracluding hazardous chemicals
and radioactive materials. We believe that our @doces for handling hazardous materials comply fetteral and state regulations; however,
there can be no assurance that accidental injucpmamination from these materials will not ocdie currently maintain a general liability
insurance policy that has a $1.0 million per cléinmt and also caps aggregate claims at $2.0 millla addition, we have an umbrella
insurance policy that covers up to $2.0 milliorliability in excess of the general liability policy$2.0 million limit. In the event of an accide
we could be held liable for damages, which woutéllf exceed our insurance coverage and other daifenancial resources. This liability
would limit our ability to commercialize IPLEX ardkvelop other products which would materially agdedy affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
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We are subject to federal, state and local lawsregdlations governing the use, manufacture, seragndling and disposal of hazardous
materials and waste products. These laws and tagnudanay require us to incur significant costsdmply with environmental laws and
regulations in the future that could materially exbely affect our business, financial condition eeglilts of operations.

We may be subject to product liability claims if oproducts harm people, and we have only limitedg@uct liability insurance.

The manufacture and sale of human therapeutic pteduvolve an inherent risk of product liabilittaons and associated adverse
publicity. We currently have only limited produébility insurance for clinical studies and no coemgial product liability insurance. We do
not know if we will be able to maintain existing @btain additional product liability insurance cctaptable terms or with adequate coverage
against potential liabilities. This type of insucanis expensive and may not be available on adoleptarms. If we are unable to obtain or
maintain sufficient insurance coverage on reas@ntasms or to otherwise protect against potentiadipct liability claims, we may be unable
commercialize our products. A successful prodadiility claim brought against us in excess of msurance coverage, if any, may require us
to pay substantial amounts. This could have a adtaiverse effect our business, financial conditod results of operations.

If our settlement agreement with Tercica and Geneclh was terminated, the Consent order from the douould be reinstated, which wou
have a material adverse effect on our businessafinial condition and results of operations.

As part of our settlement agreement with GenenéechTercica, we entered into a Consent Judgmen®Parmdanent Injunction in the
United States District Court for the Northern Distiof California. If our settlement agreement witbrcica and Genentech is terminated, the
Consent Judgment and Permanent Injunction agasnstlusurvive termination, which would have a mé&tadverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations asweelld no longer have a license to manufacture lRLEing the present process without
incurring significant penalties and royalties.

Conversion of our outstanding notes and exerciseagfrrants and options issued by us will significéyntilute the ownership interest of
existing shareholders.

As of February 28, 2008, the convertible notesdédgoy us in March 2005 and the warrants issuedsbiy Way 2007, March
2005, November 2004 and July 2003 were converiittteand exercisable for up to approximately 15ion shares of our common stock,
representing approximately 13% of our then outstapndommon stock.

As of February 28, 2008, our outstanding optionsuoemployees, officers, directors and consultausise exercisable for up to
5.2 million shares of our common stock, represgngipproximately an additional four percent of chert outstanding common stock.

The conversion or exercise of some or all of outnvestible notes, warrants and options will sigrafitly dilute the ownership interests of
existing shareholders. Any sales in the public retdf the common stock issuable upon such conversi@xercise could adversely affect
prevailing market prices of our common stock.

The market price of our stock has been and may ¢oune to be highly volatile, and we do not anticigapaying any cash dividends on our
common stock in the foreseeable future.

Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Capitakitaunder the ticker symbol “INSM.” The marketga&iof our stock has been and
may continue to be highly volatile, and announcemées us or by third parties may have a signifidargact on our stock price. These
announcements may include:

. our listing status on the Nasdaq Capital Mar
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. results of our clinical studies and preclinicaldiés, or those of our corporate partners or ourpeiitors;
. our operating result:

. developments in our relationships with corporatereas;

. developments affecting our corporate partn

. negative regulatory action or regulatory approvighwespect to our announcement or our competitamaouncements of new
products

. government regulation, reimbursement changes anergmental investigation or audits related to usoayur products
. developments related to our patents or other petay rights or those of our competitc

. changes in the position of securities analysts vafipect to our stock; ai

. operating results below the expectations of publicket analysts and investo

In addition, the stock market has from time to tiexperienced extreme price and volume fluctuatiadsch have particularly affected
the market prices for emerging biotechnology amgpbarmaceutical companies, and which have often beeelated to their operating
performance. These broad market fluctuations magraely affect the market price of our common stock

In the past, when the market price of a stock le@hlvolatile, holders of that stock have oftenitatgd securities class action litigation
against the company that issued the stock. If dmyoshareholders brought a lawsuit against uscaued incur substantial costs defending the
lawsuit. The lawsuit could also divert the time atgkntion of our management.

Future sales by existing shareholders may lowepthe of our common stock, which could resultaedes to our shareholders. Future
sales of substantial amounts of common stock iptheic market, or the possibility of such saleswcing, could adversely affect prevailing
market prices for our common stock or our futurgitgtio raise capital through an offering of equétecurities. Substantially all of our comrmr
stock is freely tradable in the public market withcestriction under the Securities Act, unless¢hghares are held by “affiliates” of our
company, as that term is defined in Rule 144 utiteeiSecurities Act.

We have never paid dividends on our common stoak cWrently intend to retain our future earnin§gny, to fund the development
growth of our businesses and, therefore, we d@ntitipate paying any cash dividends in the forasksefuture.

Certain provisions of Virginia law, our articles ahcorporation and our amended and restated bylaasd our Rights Plan make a hostile
takeover by a third party difficult.

Certain provisions of Virginia law and our articlefsincorporation and amended and restated bylauklcdhamper a third party’s
acquisition of, or discourage a third party frorreatpting to acquire control of us. The conditionsid also limit the price that certain invest
might be willing to pay in the future for sharesoofr common stock. These provisions include:

» aprovision allowing us to issue preferred stocthwights senior to those of the common stock witremy further vote or action by
the holders of the common stock. The issuanceefémed stock could decrease the amount of earaindsssets available for
distribution to the holders of common stock or coatlversely affect the rights and powers, includiating rights, of the holders of
the common stock. In certain circumstances, swusthaisce could have the effect of decreasing theeharice of the common stoc
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» the existence of a staggered board of directovghich there are three classes of directors sestaggered thre-year terms, thu
expanding the time required to change the compuwsdf a majority of directors and perhaps discoimggomeone from making an
acquisition proposal for u

» the amended and restated byl’ requirement that shareholders provide advanceenatien nominating our directol

» the inability of shareholders to convene a shaddral meeting without the chairman of the board,ghesident or a majority of the
board of directors first calling the meeting; ¢

» the application of Virginia law prohibiting us froemtering into a business combination with the Beira owner of 10% or more ¢
our outstanding voting stock for a period of thyears after the 10% or greater owner first reathatllevel of stock ownership,
unless we meet certain criter

In addition, in May 2001, our board of directorpegved the adoption of a Rights Plan under whidredholders received rights to
purchase new shares of preferred stock if a pessgnoup acquires 15% or more of our common stdblese provisions are intended to
discourage acquisitions of 15% or more of our comstock without negotiations with the board. Thghts trade with our common stock,
unless and until they are separated upon the cameerof certain future events. Our board of dinectoay redeem the rights at a price of $0.01
per right prior to the time a person acquires 13%more of our common stock.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our headquarters are located in Richmond, Virgiwitzere we occupy approximately 18,000 square fegpace for corporate and
development activities under a lease expiring ito®er 2016. Our lease contains annual rent esgatatif 3%. Our annual cash cost for the
Virginia space including utilities and servicedistal 2007 was approximately $0.4 million.

Our process development and manufacturing fadditpcated in Boulder, Colorado, where we occupyrapimately 25,000 square feet
dedicated to cGMP production of commercial andicdihdrug and quality control and 26,000 squaré¢ ééspace in two adjacent facilities for
additional laboratory and research and developmjeatations, administrative functions, and cGMP Wwatse and dispensing operations. Our
annual cash cost for this facility including utéis and services in fiscal 2007 was approximatél? $nillion under two operating leases that
contain annual escalation of 3-5% and expire indb@mer 2010 for the lab facility and February 20d:3thie manufacturing facility.

We believe that our existing facilities are adeguat our current needs and that suitable additionalternate space will be available on
commercially reasonable terms when our leasesexppiwhen we need additional space.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On December 6, 2006, a jury in the U.S. Districu@dor the Northern District of California fountddt we infringed patents held by
Tercica and Genentech and awarded damages of $fidhras an upfront payment and a royalty of 15&tsales of IPLEX below $100 millic
and 20% for sales of IPLEX above $100 million.

On March 5, 2007, we reached a settlement agreeenelinig all litigation with Tercica and GenenteBlrsuant to the agreement, we
agreed to cease sales and marketing of IPLEX trémtment of short stature disorders in the dri8&ates and agreed to withdraw our
European Marketing Authorization Application forllPX for treatment of short stature disorders. Wettwe to provide IPLEX to named
patients with ALS in Italy under our Expanded Ac@sogram. We pay a royalty under our agreemerslf@ost-recovery that we receive
under the Expanded Access Program. The agreensangiaes us the right, through a worldwide develeptipartnership with Tercica and
Genentech, to market IPLEX for conditions not redato short
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stature. These indications include severe inselsistance, MMD and HARS, among others. The devedmpipartnership includes provisions
that give us a 50% share of profits and reimburseroe 50% of development costs if either Tercic&@nentech exercises opt-in rights for
marketing of IPLEX in any of these new indicatidhat we develop. In addition, as part of the setdat agreement, Tercica and Genentech
waived the damages awarded by the jury in the paiéingement suit from the U.S. District Court fine Northern District of California.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
None.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
REPURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock began trading on The Nasdaq SayalMarket on June 1, 2000 and moved to the Nasdt@mpGMarket (formerly th
Nasdag National Market) on August 8, 2000. On Fatyr29, 2008 our common stock was transferred fteeNasdaq Global Market to t
Nasdaq Capital Market as a result of a decisiothbyPanel in response to our appeal of the Stakrenation.

Our trading symbol is “INSM.” The following tablésts, for the periods indicated, the high and lae rices per share for our common
stock as reported on the Nasdaq Global Marketdtn fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006:

Insmed

Common Stock
Fiscal Year 2007 High Low
Fourth Quarte $1.07 $0.6¢€
Third Quartel 0.8z 0.5¢
Second Quarte 1.22 0.6¢
First Quartel 1.6% 0.6¢
Fiscal Year 2006 High Low
Fourth Quarte $1.9¢ $0.8(
Third Quartel 1.6C 1.0Z
Second Quarte 2.0t 1.3¢
First Quartel 3.3t 1.8:

On February 28, 2008, the last reported sale jpoiceur common stock on the Nasdaq Global Market $&78 per share. As of
February 28, 2008, there were approximately 558érslof record of our common stock.

We have never declared or paid dividends on oumeomstock. We anticipate that we will retain altréags, if any, to support
operations and to finance the growth and developwieour business. Therefore, we do not expectipogash dividends in the foreseeable
future. Any future determination as to the paynardividends will be at the sole discretion of dnaard of directors and will depend on our
financial condition, results of operations, capieduirements and other factors our board of dirsadeems relevant.

Information about our equity incentive plans carfdaend in Note 4 of our consolidated financial stagnts contained within this Form
10-K and in the section “Equity Compensation Plafioimation” of our definitive Proxy Statement fanri2008 annual meeting of stockholders
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commisaind is herein incorporated by reference.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

In the table below, we present historical finandiaia for the past five years of our operations.h&e prepared this information using
consolidated financial statements for the five geaarded December 31, 2007. The financial statenfienéach of the five fiscal years ended
December 31, 2007, have been audited by Ernst &nya P, our independent registered public accognfiim. Ernst & Young LLP’s report
on the consolidated financial statements for trer y@ded December 31, 2007, which appears elsewhez, includes an explanatory
paragraph which describes an uncertainty abouability to continue as a going concern.

When you read this selected historical financidghda is important that you also read the his@rftnancial statements and related notes
in our annual and quarterly reports filed with Securities and Exchange Commission, as well as @&dament’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Year Ended December 31

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Historical Statement of Operations Data:
Revenue! $ 15C $ 137 $ 131 $ 991 $ 7,52¢
Operating expense

Cost of goods sol — — — 1,49( 57€

Asset Impairmen — — — 7,10z —

Research and developmt 7,14( 23,26( 21,83t 21,08¢ 18,931

General and administrati\ 3,47 4,24; 5,73( 25,68: 8,45t
Stock compensatic 11¢ — — — —
Total operating expens: 10,73¢ 27,50z 27,56¢ 55,36¢ 27,96¢
Operating los: (10,58¢) (27,365 (27,439 (54,379 (20,439
Interest incomt 28¢ 222 752 1,937 1,15¢
Interest expens — (60) (14,24°) (3,709 (682
Loss before income tax (10,299 (27,209 (40,929 (56,139 (29,969
Income tax expens — — — — —
Net loss (10,299 (27,209 (40,929 (56,139 (29,967
Basic and diluted net loss per sh (0.29) (0.69) (0.89 (0.59) (0.17)
Weighted average shar 35,60( 39,16( 48,74 95,32 114,68:
Historical Balance Sheet Data
Cash, cash equivalents and s-term investment $ 29,52¢ $ 9,22: $ 18,83t $ 24,11 $ 16,47¢
Total asset 29,81 13,01: 22,87( 28,34¢ 19,50(
Long-term debt, ne — — 6,43 3,161 2,11z
Stockholder’ equity 26,22( 7,23t 10,52¢ 13,88( 11,48¢
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ITEM7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion also should be read injwoction with the Consolidated Financial Statemeand notes thereto.

Overview

We are a development stage company with expertipeotein drug development. We have a state-oath&DA-approved biologic
commercial manufacturing facility located in Bould€olorado, and our corporate office is locate@&iohmond, Virginia.

We are pursuing a dual path strategy involvingyeimto the follow-on biologics arena (also knownbéasimilars, biogenerics and
biologics) and advancing our proprietary proteiatform into niche markets with unmet needs. Inftliew-on biologics field, we are
developing a robust pipeline of products targetediarkets in anemia, neutropenia and autoimmuseadies. On the proprietary protein front,
our lead product, the FDA-approved IPLEX, is bestudied as a treatment for several serious medaaditions with our focus initially on
MMD and ALS in ltaly.

We have not been profitable and have accumulatécitdeof approximately $331 million through Deceent81, 2007. We expect to inc
significant additional losses for at least the resgteral years until such time as sufficient reesrare generated to offset expenses. Moving
forward our major source of income is expectededhe cost recovery charges for our Expanded Adeassgram and our major expenses will
be related to research and development. In germnakxpenditures may increase as developmentrgfroduct candidates progresses.
However, there will be fluctuations from periodperiod caused by differences in project costs imecliat each stage of development.

Research and Development Activiti

Since we began operations in late 1999, we havetdésubstantially all of our resources to theasseand development of a number of
product candidates for metabolic and endocrineadise Our research and development efforts arepriagipally focused on pursuing a dual
path strategy involving entry into the follow-oroligics arena (also known as biosimilars, biogesesind biologics) and advancing our
proprietary protein platform into niche marketshwitnmet needs. In the follow-on biologics field, are developing a robust pipeline of
products targeted for markets in anemia, neutr@pand autoimmune diseases. In addition, on therigtapy protein front our lead product, the
FDA-approved IPLEX, is being studied as a treatmenséseral serious medical conditions including MMRI&ALS in Italy. We conduct ve
little of our own preclinical laboratory researtfie have outsourced several Phase Il clinical studith IPLEX and our other anti-cancer
product candidates, INSM-18 and rhIGFBP-3, and placonducting additional clinical studies in thigufe.

All of our research and development expenditurdgther conducted by our own staff or by externedrdists on our behalf and at our
expense, are recorded as expenses as incurrednauthizd to approximately $167 million for the périince inception, in November 1999,
through December 31, 2007, and $21.8 million, $2illion and $18.9 million, for the years ended Bexber 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007,
respectively. Research and development expensesstprimarily of salaries and related expensestscim develop and manufacture products
and amounts paid to contract research organizatimspitals and laboratories for the provisionarvices and materials for drug development
and clinical trials.

All of our research and development expendituréged to our proprietary protein platform are intdaited as they are all associated with
drugs that modulate IGF-I activity in the human ol significant finding in any one drug for a gatiar indication may provide benefits to
our efforts across all of these products. All afsa
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products also share a substantial amount of ournrcamfixed costs such as salaries, facility codilties and maintenance. Given the small
portion of research and development expenses tbatkated to products other than IPLEX we haverdeined that very limited benefits woi
be obtained from implementing cost tracking systémswould be necessary to allow for cost infoiorabn a product-by-product basis.

Our plans to develop our FOB candidates are exgeoteepresent our main research and developmeus fior 2008 followed by
external clinical research of IPLEX™ in the MMD indtion. The development of our FOB candidates wvilblve manufacturing, process
development and comparability followed by extemialical trials as required by the FDA to suppatety and efficacy.

Our clinical trials with our product candidates atdject to numerous risks and uncertainties tfeabatside of our control, including the
possibility that necessary regulatory approvals matybe obtained. For example, the duration anadisé of clinical trials may vary
significantly over the life of a project as a raafldifferences arising during the clinical trigotocol, including, among others, the following:

. the number of patients that ultimately participatéhe trial;

. the duration of patient follo-up that is determined to be appropriate in viewestilts;
. the number of clinical sites included in the tr:

. the length of time required to enroll suitable patisubjects; an

. the efficacy and safety profile of the product ddate.

Our clinical trials may also be subject to delaysepections based on our inability to enroll patgeat the rate that we expect or our
inability to produce clinical trial material in didient quantities and of sufficient quality to meke schedule for our planned clinical trials.

Moreover, all of our product candidates and palaidy those that are in the preclinical or earlyidal trial stage must overcome
significant regulatory, technological, manufactgremd marketing challenges before they can be ssfidly commercialized. Some of these
product candidates may never reach the clinicall stage of research and development. As preclisiadies and clinical trials progress, we
may determine that collaborative relationships blInecessary to help us further develop or to cemialize our product candidates, but such
relationships may be difficult or impossible toaarge. Our projects or intended projects may alssubgct to change from time to time as we
evaluate our research and development prioritidsasailable resources.

Any significant delays that occur or additional erpes that we incur may have a material adversetafh our financial position and
require us to raise additional capital sooner daiger amounts than is presently expected. Intiadidias a result of the risks and uncertainties
related to the development and approval of ourygrbdandidates and the additional uncertaintiegedl|to our ability to market and sell these
products once approved for commercial sale, weiaable to provide a meaningful prediction regardhgperiod in which material net cash
inflows from any of these projects is expectede¢odime available.

Results of Operation
Fiscal 2007 compared to Fiscal 2006

Revenues for the full-year 2007 totaled $7.5 milliap from $991,000 in the corresponding period@96. This increase was due to
improvements in the cost recovery from our EAP tredreceipt of licensing income from our agreenvettit NAPO Pharmaceuticals Inc.,
(“NAPQ"), combined with increased sales of IPLEX™¥rithg the first quarter of 2007.

The net loss for the 12 months ended December@®X/, @as $20.0 million or $0.17 per share, comp&yekb6.1 million or $0.59 per
share for the 12 months ended December 31, 2006 R&enses dropped to $18.9 million from $21.1ioml) reflecting lower litigation
expenses which were included in R&D Expenses during
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the first quarter of 2006, and reduced commercehufiacturing activity in 2007. SG&A Expenses fell#8.5 million from $25.7 million, due
to a combination of reduced litigation expensesgctviwere included in SG&A Expenses for the finakth quarters of 2006, and the elimina
of commercial expenses in 2007.

Interest income for the full-year 2007 was $1.2lionl, compared to $1.9 million for the full-year@® This decrease was mainly due to
lower interest rates and a lower average cash tafam the full-year 2007 as compared to the yelr 2006. Interest expense for the 12 mc
ended December 31, 2007 was $682,000, comparedi Zaw#illion for corresponding period of 2006. THiscrease in interest expense resulted
from lower amortization of the debt discount asated with our March 2005 financing, as a significacceleration of the discount took place
in 2006 due to the conversion of notes into shaf@sir common stock.

As of December 31, 2007, we had total cash, casivalgnts and short-term investments on hand of$bd#llion, compared to $24.1
million on hand as of December 31, 2006. The $7l6om decrease in cash, cash equivalents and gbort investments mainly reflected the
use of $25.3 million for operating activities an8%00,000 investment in NAPO, which was partiaffiset by net proceeds of $17.0 million
from an offering of our common stock and warrantpiirchase our common stock and $1.0 million froereduction of an outstanding letter
of credit.

Accounts payable and accrued project costs and ddweased $6.9 million, from $8.3 million in #8006 to $1.4 million in fiscal
2007 as a result of decreased litigation actiBtypckholders’ equity decreased $2.4 million, frob3$ million in fiscal 2006 to $11.5 million
in fiscal 2007. In our common stock financing inyW2007, we received net proceeds of $17.0 millmirt,this was offset by our net loss of
$20.0 million for fiscal 2007. Our accumulated défat December 31, 2007, increased to approxim&&B0.8 million from $310.8 million at
December 31, 2006 due to our fiscal 2007 net 16§20.0 million.

Fiscal 2006 compared to Fiscal 2005

In fiscal 2006, we recorded a net loss of $56.1ionil as compared to a net loss of $40.9 millionfiecal 2005. Our net loss in fiscal
2006 was larger than in fiscal 2005 because ofommmercial sales operations. Revenue for fiscab2@@s $1.0 million as compared to
revenue of $0.1 million in fiscal 2005.

Cost of goods sold for fiscal 2006 was $1.5 milliaich represents both variable and fixed comptmehdrug supply production costs.
These costs, which were previously expensed aangsand development prior to commercial launchiPeEX in the second quarter of fiscal
2006, were capitalized into inventory following faaln and charged to the cost of product sales as ohiPLEX were sold. The high cost of
goods sold in fiscal 2006 was primarily driven heg targe fixed cost component being spread overal siumber of commercial units as
process enhancements required production downtime.

Research and development expenses, which consrstnfly of costs associated with clinical trialsafr product candidates, including
the costs of manufacturing, compensation and akeenses related to research and development petsamd facilities expenses, decreased
$0.7 million, from $21.8 million in fiscal 2005 %21.1 million in fiscal 2006. This reduction wasesult of recording litigation expenses post-
commercialization of IPLEX as selling, general aathinistrative expense, whereas prior to commézaigbn litigation expenses were
recorded as research and development expenséscdhZ006, litigation expenses were classifiedelking, general and administration expe
during the last three quarters of the year and wiassified as research and development expens#seféirst quarter of the year. In fiscal 20
litigation expenses were consistently recordedasarch and development expenses.

Selling, general and administrative expenses ise@&20.0 million, from $5.7 million for fiscal 28@o $25.7 million for fiscal 2006.
The increase was due to the commercial launchldEXPand the recording of legal costs as sellingyegal and administrative expense, as
described above.
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Following our March 2007 agreement with Tercica @ahentech, approximately $2.1 million in inventand $5.0 million in
construction-in-progress was written-off to assgbairment as a result of management’s assessecdefai of these assets at December 31,
2006.

We recorded $3.7 million in interest expense fecdl 2006 as a result of the amortization and amiwe of our March 2005 convertible
notes. Of this amount $3.4 million was non-cash essult of the accelerated amortization of the dedzount due to the conversion of notes to
common stock in the first and fourth quarters s€&il 2006. $2.0 million of unamortized debt disda@mained in long-term liabilities on our
balance sheet and was expected to be amortizedr@eemaining life of the notes.

As of December 31, 2006, cash, cash equivalentshaod-term investments increased to $24.1 milfrom $18.8 million at
December 31, 2005. As a result of a higher avectagh balance and higher interest rates in fisdab 20mpared to fiscal 2005, interest incc
increased $1.1 million, from $0.8 million in fisc2D05 to $1.9 million in fiscal 2006.

Accounts payable and accrued project costs and bttreased $5.3 million, from $3.0 million in fec2005 to $8.3 million in fiscal 20(
as a result of increased litigation activity. Stecklers’ equity increased $3.4 million in fiscald®from $10.5 million in fiscal 2005 to $13.9
million in fiscal 2006. In our March 2006 commowgh financing, we received net proceeds of $4218anj which was offset by our net loss
of $56.1 million for fiscal 2006. Our accumulateefidit at December 31, 2006, increased to approtéin&310.8 million from $254.7 million
at December 31, 2005 due to our fiscal 2006 netdd$56.1 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resource

There is considerable time and cost associateddewieloping a potential drug or pharmaceutical pobdlo the point where FDA
approval for sales is received. In our financiahagement, we seek to raise the funds necessasydbrdevelopment primarily through the
issuance of equity securities in private placen@msactions. However, it is our intention to persadditional financing options, including
entering into agreements with corporate partnesder to provide milestone payments, license &ekequity investments.

Capital Requirements

Expenditures in fiscal 2007 were principally rethte research and development, clinical trial digtjymanufacturing activity and
administrative activity at our sites in Boulder,l@ado, and Richmond, Virginia in addition to legald sales and marketing activity during the
first quarter of 2007. In the short-term, we wiled to raise substantial additional funds to enterthe follow-on biologics market and advai
our proprietary protein platform into niche markeish unmet needs. In the longer-term, we will regsubstantial additional funds for the
continued development of our potential product idetgs. We have a shelf registration statement thighSecurities and Exchange
Commission that allows us to sell up to $75 millafrour common stock, preferred stock or warraotscbmmon or preferred stock of which
approximately $17 million is still available. We yngell these securities in one or more separatginffs in amounts, at prices and on terms to
be determined at the time of such offering(s). Hhislf registration statement is intended to gisdlexibility to take advantage of financing
opportunities when and if deemed appropriate byOus.continuation as a going concern depends omloility to obtain such additional
financing and, ultimately, to generate positivehcBisw and attain profitability. There can be ns@asnce that adequate funds will be available
when we need them or on favorable terms. If attamg we are unable to obtain sufficient additiofuelds, we will be required to delay, resti
or eliminate some or all of our research or devalept programs, dispose of assets or technologgasecoperations.

The report of the Ernst & Young, our independegistered public accounting firm, to our auditedafigial statements for the period
ended December 31, 2007, indicates that there auender of factors that raise substantial doubtiabar ability to continue as a going
concern. Such factors identified in the report@renet
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loss position, our failure to attain positive céiglivs from operations and our dependence upon mibiadequate financing.

Planned expenditures in 2008 include the fundingusfongoing research and development activityh sscmanufacturing and clinical
trial costs, and general and administrative suppasts.

Capital Resources

We have funded our operations to date primarilgugh public and private placements of debt andtegeicurities. We plan to continue
incurring losses as we expand our research andapement and do not expect material revenues ftaaat the next several years. At
December 31, 2007, our cash and shemta investments were approximately $16.5 milliand were invested in money market instruments
municipal bonds. This is a decrease of $7.6 milfiom fiscal 2006, as a result of our cash usendutiie year, offset by our common stock
financing described below.

On May 7, 2007, we entered into definitive subdaripagreements with certain investors relatinthtosale of an aggregate of
20,255,367 units, each unit consisting of one (iBys of our common stock and one warrant to puecBak shares of our common stock at an
exercise price of $1.10 per share, for a purchase pf $0.90 per unit. Net proceeds from the afigmwere $17.0 million. This offering was
made pursuant to the Company’s effective shelfstegfion statement described above.

Our business strategy contemplates raising additicepital through debt or equity sales. We alsm pb enter into agreements with
corporate partners in order to fund operationsughomilestone payments, license fees and equissinvents.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangemieatfitive or are reasonably likely to have a cumwefuture effect on our financial
condition, revenues or expenses, results of operatiiquidity, capital expenditures or capitaloeces that we believe is material to investors.

Contractual Obligations
We are obligated to make future payments undeouartontracts as set forth below:

Contractual Obligations
(in thousands)

Payments Due by Year:

Less thar More than
1-3 3-5
Total 1 year Years Years 5 years
Long term debt (1 $ 5,317 $2,43¢ $2,87¢ $ — $ —
Operating lease obligatiol 9,04( 99¢€ 2,01¢ 4,69% 1,33

$14,35: $ 3,43 $4,89i $4,69¢ $ 1,33

(1) Long-term debt obligations reflect the future interesd arincipal payments of the future interest aridgipal payments of th
Company’s convertible notes outstanding as of Déegrl, 2007. These notes become due in quartestgliments, beginning on
March 8, 2008, if not converted to common sharemagarlier date
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Critical Accounting Policies

Preparation of financial statements in accordaritie generally accepted accounting principles intimited States requires us to make
estimates and assumptions affecting the reportediats of assets, liabilities, revenues and expearsgshe disclosures of contingent assets
and liabilities. We use our historical experienod ather relevant factors when developing our estsmand assumptions. We continually
evaluate these estimates and assumptions. Therdowppolicies discussed below are those we considical to an understanding of our
consolidated financial statements because thelicapipn places the most significant demands onjedgment. Actual results could differ frc
our estimates. For additional accounting policge® Note 1 to our Consolidated Financial Statemefidescription of the Business and
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.”

Research and Development

Research and development costs are expensed asthdiesearch and development expenses consiryi of salaries and related
expenses, cost to develop and manufacture prochatent protection costs and amounts paid to contesearch organizations, hospitals and
laboratories for the provision of services and malke for drug development and clinical trials. & not have separate accounting policies for
internal or external research and development amdawnot conduct any research and developmenttiers Our expenses related to clinical
trials are based on estimates of the serviceswed@ind efforts expended pursuant to contractstitt-party organizations that conduct and
manage clinical trials on our behalf. These cortg¢raet forth the scope of work to be completedfateal fee or amount per patient enrolled.
Payments under these contracts depend on perfoentaiteria such as the successful enroliment aéptt or the completion of clinical trial
milestones. Expenses are accrued based on conteaounts applied to the level of patient enrolltreemd to activity according to the clinical
trial protocol.

Litigation costs as they relate to our patentsracerded as research and development expenditdoegever, from May through
December 2006, the Company shifted from researdtdamelopment operations to commercial operatiand,litigation costs were recorded
a selling, general and administrative activity dgrthis time.

Revenue Recognition

We record revenue from product sales when the gamldelivered and title passes to the customethéAtime of sale, estimates for s¢
deductions, including rebates to government agenei® recorded. These provisions are providethftire same period the related product
sales are recorded. Following our settlement ageeémith Tercica and Genentech on March 6, 2007ce@sed to supply IPLEX to patients
and discontinued sales of IPLEX as of March 7, 2B0venue from our Expanded Access Program is néoed) when the drugs have been
provided to program patients and collectibilityassured. License income is recognized as revenaa thle milestones are achieved and
payments are due.

Stock-Based Compensation

We adopted the fair-value-based method of accogftinshare-based payments effective January 16,280ng the “modified
prospective transition method” described in SFAS Nt8,Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—TranséiahDisclosure Currently,
we use the Black-Scholes-Merton formula to estintiagevalue of stock options granted to employeesexgpect to continue to use this option
valuation model. Under that transition method, cengation cost recognized during the year endedrbleee31, 2006 included:

(a) compensation cost for all share-based paynggatged prior to, but not yet vested as of JantiaB006, based on the grant date fair value
estimated in accordance with the original provisiohSFAS 123Share Based Paymen#s)d (b) compensation cost for all share-based
payments granted subsequent to January 1, 200&d basthe grant date fair valued estimated in atzoare with the provisions of SFAS 123R,
Share-Based Payments
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Prior to January 1, 2006, we applied APB Opinion R Accounting for Stock Issued to Employessl related interpretations in accounting
for our stock based compensation plans. Resultgrfor periods have not been restated. Howeverweaddopted SFAS 123R in prior periods,
the impact of that standard would have approxim#ttedmpact of SFAS 123 as described in the discisf pro-forma net income and
earnings per share in Note 1 to our consolidateghfiial statements.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

We invest excess cash in investment grade, intbessing securities and, at December 31, 2007 $th&b million invested in money
market instruments and municipal bonds. Such imvests are subject to interest rate and credit @sk.policy of investing in highly rated
securities whose liquidities at December 31, 2@0& all less than six months minimizes such riskaddition, while a hypothetical one
percent per annum decrease in market interestwatelsl have reduced our interest income for fig7, it would not have resulted in a loss
of the principal and the decline in interest inconwld have been immaterial. Our purpose in maki@ge investments is to generate
investment income.

We currently do not transact any significant partad our business in functional currencies othantthe U.S. dollar. To the extent that
we continue to transact our business using the dafar as our functional currency, we do not badi¢hat the fluctuations in foreign currency
exchange rates will have a material adverse effiectur results of operations.

ITEM 8.  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
The information required by Item 8 is set forthpages F-1 to F-9.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedure

Based on their evaluation, as of December 31, 2007Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executivéfider) and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer) have concluded that disclosure controls and procedures (as defindlies 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) feetaie.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finarad Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@gorting (as defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securlieshange Act of 1934, as amended). Our internarabaver financial reporting was
designed to provide reasonable assurance to ouagearent and board of directors regarding the riétiabf financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples.

Our management assessed the effectiveness oftetmahcontrol over financial reporting as of Det@&m31, 2007 based on the criteria
set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizegiof the Treadway Commission (COSO)riternal Control—Integrated Framework
Management’s assessment included an evaluatidreafdsign of our internal control over financigloging and testing of the operational
effectiveness of our internal control over finahceporting. Based on this assessment, our manageroacluded that, as of December 31,
2007, our internal control over financial reportings effective.
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Ernst & Young LLP, our independent registered pubtcounting firm, has issued an audit report ereffiectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting. The report of Er& Young LLP is contained in Item 8 of this Anth&eport on Form 10-K.

There have been no changes in our internal coow@l financial reporting that occurred during tleathat have materially affected, or
are reasonably likely to materially affect, oureimtal control over financial reporting.

ITEM9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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PART IlI

The information required by Items 10, 11, 12, 18 &4 of Form 10-K is incorporated by reference friv@ discussion responsive thereto
under the captions “Election of Directors” and “idgmtion of Auditors” in our definitive proxy stateent for our 2008 annual meeting of
stockholders as filed with the Securities and ErxgegaCommission.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(@) Documents filed as part of this repc

1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. The following consolidated financial statementshef Company are set forth herein,
beginning on page-1:

(i) Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registdpeitblic Accounting Firn

(il Report of Ernst & Young, LLP, Independent Retgred Public Accounting Firm on Internal ContreéoFinancial
Reporting

(i) Consolidated Balance She
(iv) Consolidated Statements of Operati
(v) Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity
(vi) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flc
(vii) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem
2. FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.
None required.
3. EXHIBITS.

The exhibits that are required to be filed or ipmyated by reference herein are listed in the Bkiddex. Exhibits 10.1,
10.2,10.14, 10.16, 10.17, 10.19, 10.20, 10.2118n22 constitute management contracts or compaysaens or
arrangements required to be filed as exhibits beret
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyidthas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, therednlp authorized in the City of Richmond, Commonwiealf Virginia, on the 12th day of
March, 2008.

| NSMED | NCORPORATED
a Virginia corporatior
(Registrant

By: /s| GEOFFREYA LLAN
Geoffrey Allan, Ph.D.
Chairman of the Board, President and Chi
Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed belpthe following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities indicatethe 12th day of March, 2008.

Signature Title
/s/ GEOFFREYA LLAN Chairman of the Board, President and C
Geoffrey Allan, Ph.D. Executive Officer (Principal Executive Office
/s|  KEvINP. TuLLy Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financi
Kevin P. Tully Officer) and Executive Vice Preside
/sl KENNETHG. CONDON Director

Kenneth G. Condon

/sl GRAHAM K. C ROOKE Director
Graham K. Crooke, MB.BS

/s/ STEINAR J. ENGELSEN Director
Steinar J. Engelsen, M.D.

/s/ DENNISL ANFEAR Director
Dennis Lanfear

/s/  MELVIN SHAROKY Director
Melvin Sharoky, M.D.

/s/ RANDALL W. W HITCOMB Director
Randall W. Whitcomb, M.D.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Insnmembtporated

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgineets of Insmed Incorporated as of Decemb&0&¥, and 2006, and the rels
consolidated statements of operations, stockhdldgrsty, and cash flows for each of the three géarthe period ended December 31, 2007.
These financial statements are the responsibifitiedo Company’s management. Our responsibilitp isXpress an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamiogUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &mdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdinthecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on aliasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digids in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managemeniglhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referredlbove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated financial position of
Insmed Incorporated at December 31, 2007 and 20@bthe consolidated results of its operationsianchsh flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2007, in confgrmith U.S. generally accepted accounting prinaple

The accompanying financial statements have begraped assuming that Insmed Incorporated will cargtias a going concern. As more
fully described in Note 2, the Company has incuneslirring operating losses and negative cash ffoovs operations. These conditions raise
substantial doubt about the Company’s ability totoaie as a going concern. Management's plansgarceto these matters are also described
in Note 2. The financial statements do not incladg adjustments to reflect the possible futurectéfen the recoverability and classification of
assets or the amounts and classification of lizdslithat may result from the outcome of this utaiety.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated findrst&iements, in 2007 the Company changed its rddtrcaccounting for income taxes
to comply with the accounting provisions of FASBelmpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertaintyliitome Taxes—an interpretation of
FASB Statement No. 109. As discussed in Note heéacbnsolidated financial statements, in 2006 thm@any changed its method of
accounting for stock-based compensation to comjly tlve accounting provisions of Financial AccougtiStandards Board Statement No. 123
(R), Share-Based Payment.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), Insmed
Incorporated’s internal control over financial rejieg as of December 31, 2007, based on critet&béished in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoringa@imations of the Treadway Commission and our tegeied March 7, 2008 expressed
an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s! Ernst & Young LLP

Richmond, Virginia
March 7, 2008
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Insnmembtporated

We have audited Insmed Incorporated’s internalrcboiver financial reporting as of December 31, 208ased on criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued byGloenmittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the TweadCommission (the COSO
criteria). Insmed Incorporated’s management isaesible for maintaining effective internal contoer financial reporting, and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal contret financial reporting included in ManagemeiReport on Internal Control over Financial
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an mpiron the company'’s internal control over finahegporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedgdof the Public Company Accounting Oversightq®@nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet amdbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigifenternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe®@tsr audit included obtaining an understanding tdrimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness etéstig and evaluating the design and operatifeg@feness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsreg considered necessary in the circumstancefeliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonableaagsuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting princip
A company’s internal control over financial repogiincludes those policies and procedures thagi€ithin to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositions of the assdtseofompany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@awith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expendituree®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely deteafainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lrareterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or detmisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdénaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policiepracedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Insmed Incorporated maintainedalirmaterial respects, effective internal contreéofinancial reporting as of
December 31, 2007, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Insmed Incorpoested December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the relatesbtidated statements of operations,
stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each ofttiree years in the period ended December 31, @086ur report dated March 7, 2008
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Richmond, Virginia
March 7, 2008
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share data)

Assets
Current assett
Cash, cash equivalents and s-term investment
Restricted cas
Accounts receivable, n
Inventories
Prepaid expenst
Total current asse
Long-term assets
Restricted cas—long term
Investments
Deferred financing costs, n
Property and equipment, r
Total lon¢-term asset
Total asset

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl

Accrued project costs & othi

Payroll liabilities

Interest payabl

Deferred ren

Deferred incom

Convertible deb
Debt discoun

Net convertible dek
Total current liabilities

Long-term liabilities:
Convertible deb
Debt discoun

Net lon¢-term convertible dek
Asset retirement obligatic
Total liabilities
Stockholder equity:

Common stock; $.01 par value; authorized share99B0M000; issued and outstanding she

121,904,312 in 2007 and 101,328,118 in 2
Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated defici
Accumulated other comprehensive Ic
Unrealized loss on investme
Net stockholder equity
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

INSMED INCORPORATED

See accompanying notes.
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December 31

2007

$ 16,47¢

25C

244
16,97¢

2,09t

25€

17C
4
2,52

$ 19,50(

$ 904
508

631

23

115

24E

2,211
(950)

1,261
3,687

2,76¢

(651)
2,117
2,217
8,01z

1,21¢
341,27(
(330,75¢)

(242)
11,48¢
519,50

December 31

2006

$ 24,11
407

241

57¢€

87

25,42:
2,70¢

20¢
8
2,92t

$ 28,34

$ 7,187
1,11¢
1,30z

23
54

9,681

5,12¢
(1,969
3,161
1,62¢
14,46¢

1,01¢
323,66:
(310,79

13,88(
$ 28,34¢
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INSMED INCORPORATED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share data)

Sales, ne

Royalties

License incom

Other expanded access program inct
Total revenue

Operating expense

Cost of goods sol

Asset impairmen

Research and developmt

Selling, general and administrati
Total expense

Operating los!

Interest incom

Interest expens

Net loss

Basic and diluted net loss per sh
Shares used in computing basic and diluted netdesshart

See accompanying notes.
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Year Ended
December 31,
2007 2006 2005
$ 428 $ 262 $ —
121 157 131
1,607 — —
5,37¢ 571 —
7,52¢ 991 131
57€ 1,49(C —
— 7,10: —
18,93 21,08¢ 21,83¢
8,45k 25,68 5,73(
27,96¢ 55,36+ 27,56¢
(20,439  (54,37) (27,43
1,15¢ 1,937 752
(682) (3,709  (14,24)
$(19,967)  $(56,139  $(40,929
$ (017) $ (059 $ (0.8
114,68 95,32 48,74
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INSMED INCORPORATED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007, 2006, AND 2005
(in thousands, except share amounts)

Accumulated

Other

Common Accumulated Comprehensive
Additional
Stock Capital Deficit Loss
Balance at December 31, 20C $ 44¢ $220,51! $(213,729) $ =
Net loss — — (40,929 —
Issuance of 163,322 shares of common stock |
exercise of stock optior 2 131 — —
Issuance of 169,823 shares of common stock from
Employee Stock Purchase P 2 14C — —
Issuance of 18,287,848 shares of common stock upor
conversion of note 182 23,50(
Issuance of 3,011,303 shares of common stock
exercise of warrant 3C 4,19¢ — —
Recognition of debt discount in conjunction witeuance
of $35 million of convertible notes net of offeriegsts
of $2,428,00( 15,99
Recognition of stock acceleration expense for eggss 15
Recognition of stock compensation expense for
consultants — 33 — —
Balance at December 31, 20C 66% 264,52: (254,659 —
Net loss — — (56,139 —
Issuance of 36,500 shares of common stock uporiseer
of stock option: — 19 — —
Issuance of 280,234 shares of common stock"
Employee Stock Purchase P 3 254 — —
Issuance of 4,912,971 shares of common stock
conversion of note 49 6,31
Issuance of 6,572,621 shares of common stock upon
exercise of warrant 66 9,00: — —
Issuance of 23,000,000 shares of common stockafgir,c
net of offering costs of $421,0( 23C 42 ,58¢ — —
Recognition of stock compensation expense
consultants — 79 — —
Recognition of stock option expense in accordanitie
FAS 123R — 88t — —
Balance at December 31, 20C 1,01z 323,66¢ (310,79) —
Comprehensive los:
Net loss (19,962)
Unrealized loss on investme (242)
Comprehensive los — —
Issuance of 18,000 shares of common stock uporiseer
of stock option: — 9 — —
Issuance of 186,870 shares of common stock"
Employee Stock Purchase P 2 127 — —
Issuance of 116,573 shares of common stock upon
conversion of note 1 15C
Issuance of 20,255,367 shares of common stockafgir,c
net of offering costs of $1,266,1. 203 16,76 — —
Recognition of stock compensation expense
consultantt — 38 — —
Recognition of stock option expense in accordanitie
FAS 123R — 521 — —
Balance at December 31, 20C 1,21¢ 341,27( (330,759 (242)

See accompanying notes.

Total
$ 7,23¢
(40,929

132

15,99¢
15

___ 33
10,52¢
(56,139
19

257
6,367
9,06¢
42,81¢
79

88¢
13,88(

(19,96:)
(242)
(20,20
9

12¢
151
16,96+
38

521
11,48¢
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INSMED INCORPORATED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

Operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic
Non-cash stock acceleratic
Stock based compensation expe
Stock options issued for servic
Impairment of property, plant and equipm
Changes in operating assets and liabilil
Accounts receivabl
Inventory
Other asset
Accounts payabl
Accrued project costs & oth
Payroll liabilities
Deferred ren
Deferred incomu
Asset retirement obligatic
Interest payabl
Net cash used in operating activit

Investing activities
Decreases (Increases) of s-term investment
Purchases of investmer
Purchases of property, plant and equipn
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common si
Proceeds from issuance of convertible debt withaetble stock warran
Public offering
Issuance cosl
Warrants converted into shail
Other
Total proceeds from issuance of common s
Costs incurred in conjunction with issuance of ¢
Changes in cash restricted to restricted lettecsexfit
Net cash provided by financing activiti
Increase (Decrease) in cash and cash equive
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
Cash and cash equivalents at end of

Supplemental informatic
Cash paid for intere:

See accompanying notes.
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Year Ended
December 31,

2007 2006 2005
$(19,967)  $(56,139)  $(40,929
40€ 3,36¢ 12,89
— — 15
521 88t —
38 79 33

— 5,02( —
(9) (241) —
57€ (57€) -
(157) (4) 91
(6,28:) 6,21¢ (1,659
(612) (875) 1,10¢
(671) (272) 391
61 (232) (359)
24t — —
591 592 591
— (29) 52
(25,255 (42,209  (27,76Y
9,06¢ (12,197 (2,800
(500) — =
— (5,020) —
8,56¢ (17,21) (2,800)
— — 35,00(
18,23( 43,24( —
(1,266 (421) —
— 9,06¢ —
13¢€ 32E 4,621
17,10z 52,21: 39,621
— — (2,428
1,02( 28¢€ 18E
18,122 52,50 37,37¢
1,43¢ (6,919 6,817
2,121 9,03t 2,222
$ 355¢ $ 2,121 $ 9,03t
$ 27¢ $ 31¢ $ 1,10/
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INSMED INCORPORATED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Description of the Business and Summary of @iificant Accounting Policies

We are a development stage company with expertisecombinant protein drug development. We havate-®f-the art FDA-approved
commercial biologics manufacturing facility locatedBoulder, Colorado, and our corporate officéosated in Richmond, Virginia.

We are pursuing a dual path strategy involvingyeimto the follow-on biologics (follow-on biologits@rena (also known as biosimilars,
biogenerics and biologics) and advancing our petary protein platform into niche markets with unmeeds. In the follow-on biologics field,
we are developing a robust pipeline of productgetad for markets in anemia, neutropenia and antoinge diseases. On the proprietary prc
front, our product, the FDA-approved IPLEX™, isviarious stages of development for a number of genmedical conditions. Based on a
comprehensive market analysis, our current resalfgeation strategy for IPLEX™ is focused primgriin Myotonic Muscular Dystrophy
(“MMD") followed by Amyotrophic Lateral SclerosiSALS”) in Italy, also known as Lou Gehrig’s diseasgther areas where IPLEX™ has
also shown potential such as HIV-associated Adiptegistribution Syndrome (“HARS”), , and Retinopatif Prematurity (“ROP”) will be
considered in the future when our primary indicagidlave been fully pursued.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include tlo®ants of the Company and its wholly-owned subsiés, Insmed Therapeutic
Proteins, Insmed Pharmaceuticals, Incorporatedatitix Pharmaceuticals, Incorporated (“CeltrixA)l significant intercompany balances
and transactions have been eliminated in consaiaat

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial steiets in conformity with accounting principles geally accepted in the United States
requires management to make estimates and assmsitiat affect the amounts reported in the conatitifinancial statements and
accompanying notes. Actual results could diffenfrihose estimates.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments

The Company considers investments with maturitidbree months or less when purchased to be cashadgnts. Short-term
investments are available for sale and consistauilynof short-term municipal bonds. These secesitire carried at market, which
approximates cost. The cost of the specific segcsatd is used to compute the gain or loss on @te s marketable securities. The table below
details the breakdown of our cash and cash equitsabnd our short-term investments:

December 31

2007 2006
(in thousands)
Cash and Cash Equivalel $ 3,55¢ $ 2,121
Shor-Term Investment 12,92¢ 21,99:
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents and S-Term Investment $16,47¢ $24,11:

On April 14, 2004, we announced that we had acduirkease to operate a recombinant protein manufagtfacility located in Boulder,
Colorado. We intended to use the facility for tleenenercial manufacture of our FDA approved prodiIRELEX™. As of December 31, 2006,
we had Letters of Credit and
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corresponding Certificate of Deposits accounts joiex to the landlord of the manufacturing facilitythe amount of $0.9 million for
prepayment of the remaining outstanding lease tdrapproximately one year and a Letter of Creddt eorresponding Certificate of Deposit
account to Baxter Healthcare Corporation for $2itlan to cover facility restoration expenses ugermination of the lease. These amounts
were classified as restricted cash on the balameetsOn June 20, 2007, we notified our landloed ¥e wish to renew our lease. In November
we eliminated the two previously discussed LettérSredit and Certificate of Deposit accounts araljaled a new Letter of Credit to the
landlord of the manufacturing facility in the amowf $2.1 million to cover facility restoration espses upon termination of the lease. This
amount is classified as restricted cash on thenbalaheet. The accrued restoration expenses ascehiber 31, 2007 were $2.2 million and is
recorded in asset retirement obligation on therzaaheet. Accretion expense for the years endedrbtger 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 totaled
$0.6 million, $0.6 million and $0.6 million respacly.

Property and Equipment

Depreciation is provided using the straight-linettmogl over periods ranging from three to seven ydangperty and equipment is stated at
cost and consists of the following:

December 31,
2007 2006
(in thousands)
Furniture and office equipme $ 511 $ 511
Accumulated depreciatic (507) (503)
Property and equipment, r $ 4 $ 8

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or miaakd consist primarily of manufacturing coststf@ production of IPLEX™ that were
incurred subsequent to the approval for marketinthb United States Food and Drug Administratidre (fFDA”). Cost is determined using
average costing. In 2006, included in cost of gosmid is a lower of cost or market valuation adjustt of approximately $0.9 million. As of
December 31, 2006 we had approximately $576,00BIdEX finished goods inventory. Please see Noter&gset impairment write-down
related to inventory. Inventory is not currentlypitalized as IPLEX is not being sold commerciallypeesent.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

We consider the recorded cost of our financialtassed liabilities, which consist primarily of caglash equivalents and short-term
investments, to approximate the fair value of #igpective assets and liabilities at December 317 20d 2006 due to the short-term maturities
of these instruments. We also hold an investmeNARO Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“NAPQ”), classifiedaas available-for-sale” security and
reported at fair value. The carrying value of thewertible debt is $5.0 million which approximates value. This is calculated using the
intrinsic value of the conversion feature.

Stock-Based Compensation

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Stansl&ualard (FASB) issued Statement 123®)are-Based Paymena revision of
SFAS No. 123Accounting for Stock-Based Compensatighich superseded APB Opinion No. Zgcounting for Stock Issued to Employees
Statement 123(R) addresses the accounting for-$laaed payment transactions in which a companywexemployee services in exchange
for equity instruments of the company or liabiktihat are based on the fair value of the compastyisty instruments or that may be settled by
the issuance of such equity instruments. This istaie requires that share-based transactions be@ecbfor using a fair-value-based method
to recognize non-cash compensation expense; thense is recognized ratably over the requisiteieeperiod, which generally equals the
vesting period of options, and is

F-8



Table of Contents

adjusted for expected forfeitures. The Company ttbihis standard as of the beginning of 2006 ugiegnodified prospective method.
Results for prior periods have not been restated.

Revenue Recognition

We record revenue from product sales when the gamldelivered and title passes to the customethéAtime of sale, estimates for s¢
deductions, including rebates to government agenei® recorded. These provisions are providethftire same period the related product
sales are recorded. Following our settlement ageaémith Tercica and Genentech on March 6, 2007¢egsed to supply IPLEX to patients
and discontinued sales of IPLEX as of March 7, 2B0&venue from the expanded access program ismzeshwhen the drugs have been
provided to program patients and collectibilityassured. License income is recognized as revenaa thle milestones are achieved and
payments are due.

Research and Development

Research and development costs are expensed aethdResearch and development expenses consisrpyi of salaries and related
expenses, cost to develop and manufacture drugdzaed, patent protection costs, amounts paid ntract research organizations, hospitals
and laboratories for the provision of services araderials for drug development and clinical tri&ke do not have separate accounting policies
for internal or external research and developmedtvee do not conduct any research and developroeottiers. Our expenses related to
clinical trials are based on estimates of the ses/received and efforts expended pursuant toawstwith third party organizations that
conduct and manage clinical trials on our behaifede contracts set forth the scope of work to bepbeted at a fixed fee or amount per patient
enrolled. Payments under these contracts depepérformance criteria such as the successful eneoliraf patients or the completion of
clinical trial milestones. Expenses are accrue@das contracted amounts applied to the level tiépaenrollment and to activity according
the clinical trial protocol.

Litigation costs as it relates to our patents amorded as research and development expendituoasevér, from May through December
2006, the Company shifted from research and dewsop operations to commercial operations, andhliiig costs were recorded as a selling,
general and administrative activity during thisgim

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for in accordance with F09,Accounting for Income Taxe®eferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for the future tax consequences ataiilatto differences between the financial staternamnying amounts of existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax bases and ajray loss carryforwards. Deferred tax assets mfilities are measured using enacted tax rates
expected to apply to taxable income in the yeavshith those temporary differences are expectdzbtecovered or settled. The effect on
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a changeirrates is recognized in income in the period itheludes the enactment date.

Valuation allowances are recorded if it is moreljkthan not that some portion of the deferredasset will not be realized. In evaluating
the need for a valuation allowance, we take intmant various factors, including the expected |l@fd¢lture taxable income and available tax
planning strategies. If actual results differ frtme assumptions made in the evaluation of our Vialuallowance, we record a change in
valuation allowance through income tax expensaénperiod such determination is made.

In June 2006, FASB issued FASB Interpretation N Aeccounting for Uncertainty in Income TaxgBIN 48"). This Interpretation
clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in incotages recognized in an enterprise’s financial gtates in accordance with FASB 109. FIN 48
clarifies the accounting for income taxes by prigdeg the minimum recognition threshold a tax piositis required to meet before being
recognized in the
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financial statements. It also provides guidanceisolosure requirements, measurement and clagsficarovisions, and transition
requirements. We implemented FIN 48 on Januar¥Q7 2nd due to the accumulated loss position o€thapany, such implementation did
not have a material impact on our consolidatednfiied statements.

Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is computed based upometighted average number of common shares outsigualdiring the year. The
Company'’s diluted net loss per share is the sanits bBasic net loss per share because all stodangptwarrants, and other potentially dilutive
securities are antidilutive and, therefore, exctufiem the calculation of diluted net loss per shar

Segment Information

The Company currently operates in one businessaggnvhich is the development and commercializatibpharmaceutical products °
the treatment of metabolic and endocrine dised$esCompany is managed and operated as one businsisgle management team that
reports to the Chief Executive Officer compreheaivmanages the entire business. The Company ddegparate separate lines of business
with respect to its products or product candidadesordingly, the Company does not have separagggrtable segments as defined by FASB
Statement No. 13Disclosure about Segments of an Enterprise andt&glaformation

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss is net loss plus certain oteerd that are recorded directly to stockholdersitggTotal comprehensive loss for the
year ended December 31, 2007 was $20.2 mil

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, FASB issued FASB Statement Blo.Hair Value MeasurementsFASB 157”), which establishes a common
definition for fair value under U.S. generally aptasl accounting principles and creates a framefarineasuring fair value. FASB believes
that the new standard will make the measuremefatiiofalue more consistent and comparable and ingdisclosures about those measures.
FASB 157 is effective for fiscal years beginnintealNovember 15, 2007 and interim periods withiosiafiscal years for financial assets and
liabilities, and for fiscal years beginning afteowember 15, 2008 for nonfinancial assets and ltgsl We are currently evaluating the
requirements and future impact of FASB 157 on aunsolidated financial statements.

2. Risks and Uncertainties

For the period from inception to December 31, 2@6& ,Company has incurred recurring operating basel has accumulated a defici
$330 million. During 2007, the Company incurredogrerating loss of $20.0 million and net cash useabierations of $25 million. The
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concerdeipendent upon its ability to take advantage isfirg capital through securities offerings,
debt financing, and partnerships and use theseasswif capital to fund operations. Managementésgmg on raising capital through any one
or more of these options. There can be no assuthatany of managemeatplans as described above will be successfullyemented or the
the Company will continue as a going concern. Adtagly, there is substantial doubt regarding thenBany’s ability to continue as a going
concern and the financial statements do not inchmgeadjustments to reflect the possible effecttherrecoverability and classification of
assets or the amounts and classification of ligdglithat may result from the outcome of this utaiety.
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3. Asset Impairment

In accordance with FAS 14Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Lonigdd, (FAS 144) assets are reviewed for impairment
losses whenever events or changes in circumstamtieate that the carrying amount may not be rele. Following the Settlement, Licel
and Development agreement with Tercica, Inc. anteBtch Inc. on March 5, 2007, Insmed enteredar@@nsent Judgment and Permanent
Injunction whereby Insmed ceased supplying IPLEXatients with Primary IGF-D and other short statimdications.

In accordance with the provisions of FAS 144, tleen@any recorded an asset impairment of approxim&tD million in December
2006, related to fixed assets previously capitdlivesupport the production of IPLEX. In additianthe asset impairment noted above, the
Company considered the realizability of IPLEX intany in accordance with applicable guidance. We a¢sorded an inventory writgewn of
approximately $2.1 million in December 2006, toustljinventory to its net realizable value.

4. Stockholders’ Equity
Common Stock & Convertible Debt

On May 7, 2007, Insmed entered into definitive suipsion agreements with certain investors relatmghe sale of an aggregate of
20,255,367 units, each unit consisting of one [iBrs of Common Stock and one Warrant to purchdsstares of Common Stock at an
exercise price of $1.10 per share, for a purchase pf $0.90 per unit. Net proceeds from the afifgrmere $17.0 million. The offering was
made pursuant to the Company’s effective shelfstegfion statement on Form S-3 (Registration N8-B31535).

On March 15, 2006, Insmed entered into an undeéngrdgreement (the “Underwriting Agreement/ith Lazard Capital Markets LLC,
representative of the underwriters (together, thederwriters”), relating to the public offeringsisance and sale of 23,000,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock, $0.01 par value per sfdre price to the public was $2.00 per share, aadJthderwriters purchased the shares
from the Company pursuant to the Underwriting Agneat at a price of $1.88 per share. Proceeds fnenoffering were $42.8 million, net of
$0.4 million in offering costs. The offering was deapursuant to the Company’s effective shelf regfisn statement on Form B{Registratiol
No. 33:-131535).

On March 15, 2005 (the Initial Closing Date), Inshigsued and sold approximately $35,000,000 agtgegancipal amount of 5.5%
Senior Convertible Notes (the Notes) to a groumstitutional investors, which Notes will be contilele into our common stock, par value
$0.01 per share, and Warrants to purchase 14,864/&6es of our common stock (the Warrants), axancise price of $1.36 per share. The
Notes will convert into the Compa’s Common Stock at a conversion price of $1.295spare as adjusted in accordance with certain anti-
dilution adjustments (the Conversion Price). Thagpal of each Note will mature and be payablaiime quarterly installments commencing
on March 1, 2008 and ending on March 1, 2010. Atstanding Notes shall be repaid in cash or coadesithin five years after the Initial
Closing Date. Interest on the Notes is payabletgdgr Upon conversion of the Notes, the relatectaed and unpaid interest, if any, shall be
paid in cash to the investor. The Warrants areaisale for five years from the Initial Closing BaCommencing two years after the Initial
Closing Date, if the market value of our commorcktooses above 200% of the Conversion Price ftgagt fifteen of twenty consecutive
trading days and other specific criteria are met siall have the right on one occasion only toeedb0% or more (on a pro rata basis) of the
Notes at par, plus any related accrued interegt.iffvestor has the right to require us to repurelts Notes upon the occurrence of cet
repurchase events set forth in the transactioreaggats, including, but not limited to, the absesicading or market prices, delisting, a
fundamental change or certain actions that disoribei against the investors in regards to theiréstdén the common stock. The investors shall
also have a right of participation in any futuneafincings undertaken by us for one year, whichpetimit the investors to purchase up to such
portion of any subsequent equity or equity-linkeaficing, on the same terms and conditions asttiex parties in the financing, as shall
enable each investor to maintain its ownershipgrgeage of the Company on a fully diluted
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basis at such time. During 2007, $150,000 of cdihlernotes were converted into 116,573 sharesithiey shares paid for interest. Our
remaining convertible notes balance is $4,975,004l of the notes are converted prior to the ggpants beginning in March 2008 they would
be convertible into approximately 3.8 million shar€he table below details our debt payments dwecorresponding years.

Payments Due by Years

Total 2008 2009 2010
(in thousands)
Long term deb $4,97  $2,211  $2,211  $55:

Periodically, the Company has issued shares of camstock in exchange for services provided by dtw@ders and others. These
issuances have been recorded at their estimatedhfake at the time of the respective transactamts corresponding amounts have been
reflected as expense in the accompanying consetidetitements of operations.

Stock Warrants and Options
The following table summarizes the activity of bempany’s warrants:

Weighted-
Warrants
for Shares of Average
Common Exercise
Stock Price
Outstanding at January 1, 20 9,885,43! $ 1.7¢
Granted 2,025,53 1.1C
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 11,910,97 $ 1.6¢€

As of December 31, 2007, we had two equity comp@rsalans under which we were granting stock apiand shares of non-vested
stock. We are currently granting stock-based awtois our Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Incefftiaa (the “2000 Plan”) and our
Amended and Restated 2000 Employee Stock Purchas€tPe “2000 ESPP”). Both the 2000 Plan and B@02ESPP are administered by the
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directois e Board of Directors (the “Board”).

The 2000 Plan was originally adopted by the Boad @pproved by our shareholders in 2000. Its ogigien-year term was extended to
March 15, 2015 when the plan was last amended. tthdderms of the 2000 Plan, we are authorizegtdat a variety of incentive awards
based on our common stock, including stock opt{bosh incentive options and non-qualified optionetformance shares and other stock
awards. The 2000 Plan currently provides for tkaasce of a maximum of 9,250,000 (adjusted forksspdits) shares of common stock. These
shares are reserved for awards to all participarttee 2000 Plan, including non-employee directors.

The 2000 ESPP was adopted by the Board on Ap2iD80 and approved by our shareholders on the sateeldwas amended by the
Board to increase the number of shares availablssaance, and such amendment was approved Ishatgholders on May 11, 2005. The
2000 ESPP was subsequently amended and restasatiday of the Board on October 4, 2006 and the a@memt and restatement was
approved by our shareholders on December 14, 20fder the terms of the 2000 ESPP, eligible empleyee the opportunity to purchase
our common stock through stock options grantethiéot An option gives its holder the right to pusshahares of our common stock, up to a
maximum value of $25,000 per year. The 2000 ESBFRiges for the issuance of a maximum of 1,500,0@0es of our common stock to
participating employees.
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The Company issues stock options to attract ardnrekecutive officers, key employees, non-emplajiesctors and other noemployee
advisors and service providers. The maximum nurobshares issuable under the Company’s stock optamis 9,250,000. There were
3,186,094 options issuable at December 31, 200fo@pmay be granted at the discretion of the bo&rirectors, compensation committee
a delegate. The intrinsic value of stock optionsreised during 2007 was $7,011. The weighted-aeefaig value of options granted during
2007, 2006, and 2005 was $0.77, $1.25, and $0e8Bectively. The cash received from option exesoikging 2007 was $9,000. A summary
of stock option activity is as follows:

Average
Average Remaining
Contractual
Exercise Aggregate
Life in Intrinsic
Description 2007 Price Years Value
Options outstanding at January 1, 2I 6,563,93. $ 3.04
Granted 509,50( 0.77
Exercisec (18,000 0.5C
Cancellec (1,817,18) 2.5C
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 5,238,24! 2.31 3.27 $118,47(
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 3,798,96! $ 2.67 2.61 $ 69,80
The following table summarizes options outstandih®ecember 31, 2007:
Number of Securities tc Number of Securities
Be Issued upon Exercis Weighted Average Remaining Available
Exercise Price of
of Outstanding Options Outstanding Options for Future Issuance
Under Equity
Plan Category Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Compensation Plan:
Equity Compensation Plans Approved
Shareholders
Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Incentive 5,238,24! $ 2.31 3,186,009
Amended and Restated 2000 Employee S
Purchase Pla — — 715,07¢
Total: 5,238,24! $ 2.31 3,901,17.

A total of 20,990,923 shares of common stock wesenved at December 31, 2007 in connection wittksptions, stock warrants, and
the employee stock purchase plan.

5. Stock Options

As a result of adopting Statement 123(R), the Campacognized non-cash share-based compensatiemsxpf approximately $0.5
million for 2007 and $0.9 million in 2006 as com@arto no expense recognition under APB 25. Thigesge was included on the “Selling,
general and administrative” and “Research and deweént” lines of the consolidated statement of afi@ns. As of December 31, 2007, there
was $0.9 million of total unrecognized compensatiost related to stock options expected to be m@zed over the remaining vesting perios
those options.

Prior to the adoption of Statement 123(R), the Camyfs stock-based employee compensation plans aseunted for in accordance
with APB 25, under which no compensation expense ieorded because the exercise price of empldgek sptions equaled the market
price of the underlying stock on the date of grafatd the Company adopted Statement 123(R) in pedods, the impact of that statement
would have approximated the impact of FAS 123 f(#sei fair-value-based recognition provisions dfttetatement had been applied) as shown
in the following table. The weighted-average grdane fair values of stock options awarded in
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2005 were estimated at the date of grant usin@thek-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model assunmangeighted average volatility of 89%, a
risk-free interest rate of 4.17%, no dividends, andeighted-average expected life of the optioh péars.

INSMED INCORPORATED
Stock Compensation Expense
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 3:

2005
Net Loss $ (40,929
Net Loss Per Share (Basic and Dilut $ (0.89)
Stock based employee compensation cost (under Al —

Fair value stock compensation expe (1,62¢)
Prc-Forma Net Incom (42,55)
Prc-Forma Net Loss Per Share (Basic and Dilu $ (0.87)

The Company valued stock options granted in 20@62807 using a Black-Scholes-Merton valuation meddth necessitates the
development of certain key assumptions. The viajafictor was estimated based on the Companytsftigsl volatility. The Company also
used historical data to derive the option’s expeetife and employee forfeiture rates within theuatlon model. The risk-free interest rate is
based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effethatdate of grant. The dividend yield is predidate the current annualized dividend
payment. The weighted-average grant-date fair vafigtock options awarded was estimated on theafageant using the following
assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 4.65% i728nd 4.3% in 2006, no dividends, volatility oB81n 2007 and 113% in 2006, an expected
life of 3.47 years in 2007 and 2.59 years in 2006 @ forfeiture rate of 32% in 2007 and 28% in 2006

6. Income Taxes

The Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48,08ating for Uncertainty in Income Taxes and Intetption of FASB Statement
No. 109 “FIN 48"), as of January 1, 2007. Due to the acclatad loss position of the Company, the adopticht@material impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements. Athefdate of adoption and as of December 31, 20@7Cbmpany has recorded no reserves
for unrecognized income tax benefits. The Comparsubject to U.S. federal and state income taxas.statute of limitations for tax audit is
generally open for the years 2000 and later. Howeatie Company is a development-stage pharmacéuatogpany which has incurred net
operating losses since inception. Such loss camgials would be subject to audit in any tax yeawlrich those losses are carried and applied,
notwithstanding the year of origin. The Companyddiqy is to recognize interest accrued relatedrirenognized tax benefits and penalties in
income tax expense. The Company has recorded moespense. The Company does not anticipate anyrialatbanges in the amount of
unrecognized tax positions over the next twelve tingn

The deferred tax assets of approximately $122 oniléind $123 million at December 31, 2007 and 208$ectively, arise primarily due
to net operating loss carryforwards for incomegarposes. Due to the Company’s anticipated futnseds, these amounts have been entirely
offset by a valuation allowance.

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company hadpezating loss carryforwards for income tax purgasfeapproximately $306
million and $313 million, respectively, expiring Warious years beginning in 2008. Utilization oésk carryforwards will be significantly
limited due to changes in the ownership of the Camyfs common stock. The Company has never beetealioly the Internal Revenue
Service.
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Deferred tax assets (liabilities) consist of thiéofeing at December 31:

2007 2006
(in thousands)

Deferred tax asset:

General Business Cred $ 3,19¢ $ 3,801
Other 2,81¢ 1,00(
NOL Carryforwards 116,17¢ 117,80¢

122,19: 122,60°

Total deferred tax asset:
Deferred tax liabilities

Other — —
Total deferred tax liabilities

Tax deferred asset/(liability) 122,19¢ 122,60°

Valuation allowance (122,199 (122,60°

Net deferred tax asset/(liability) $ — $ =

The differences between the U.S. federal statutoryate and the Company’s effective tax rate arflows:

2007 200€ 200¢
Statutory federal tax ra 34% 34% 34%
Permanent item -2% -3% -11%
State income taxes net of federal ber 4% 4% 3%
Research and development cre -3% -1% 1%
Expired net operating loss carryforwa -39% -15% -8%
Change in valuation allowan _6% -18% -18%
Total Expenst __ 0% _ 0% _ 0%

7. Leases

The Company leases office space in Richmond, Vilgimder an operating lease agreement expiringctoligr 2016. The lease provides
for monthly rent of approximately $30,800 with a @&calation per year. The Company also leases afauaring facility and warehouse in
Boulder, Colorado under an operating lease agreeexgiring in February 2013. The lease providesionthly rent of approximately $30,0
with a 3% escalation per year. The Company alssekea vehicle and office equipment. Future mininpayments on all these leases at
December 31, 2007 is presented in the table békamt expense for all operating leases approxinmgite@d4,000 in 2007, $1,427,000 in 20086,
and $846,000 in 2005.

Payments Due by Year:

2013 &
Total 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012  Beyond
(in thousands)
Operating lease obligatiol $9,04C $99€ $1,011 $1,00¢ $80S $83€ $4,38(

8. Employee Benefit Plans

In 2000, the Company adopted a stock purchasewdtaneby eligible employees may purchase commork skxarchases may be made
through payroll deductions subject to annual litigtas. The purchase price per share under theipldre lesser of 85% of the fair market ve
of a share of common stock at the beginning of edfehing period or 85% of the fair market valuetbe date the purchase is made. As of
December 31, 2007 there were 1,500,000 sharesragtidor issuance under the plan and 715,078 kad Issued.
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The Company also maintains a tax-qualified empl®geéngs and retirement plan (the “401(k) plan’)dbgible employees.
Participating employees may defer up to the les626% of W-2 compensation or the maximum amountnitéed by the Internal Revenue
Code, as amended. The 401(k) plan permits the Caynpamake matching contributions on behalf ofpaliticipants who have elected to make
deferrals. To date, the Company has not made amtyilootions to the plan.

9. Restructuring Plan

On February 21, 2007, our Board committed to ar®ss restructuring plan following our announcenoéhe Settlement Agreement
with Tercica, Inc. and Genentech, Inc., which laid the terms for settlement of all of the outstagditigation between the parties and inclu
our agreement to withdraw IPLEX from the shortwtatmarket. The restructuring eliminated our cormuiaédepartment and downsized our
manufacturing facility located in Boulder, Coloradesulting in an immediate reduction of approxienaB4% of our previous workforce of
150. Employees who were affected by the restrunguriere provided with severance payments.

As a result of the restructuring plan, we incuraeghe-time restructuring charge in March 2007 @rapimately $1.7 million for
severance payments. The $1.7 million representtbtal amount of restructuring charges that wecerred. These charges were recorded as
research and development expenses and sellingraj@mel administrative expenses in the income istae and the remaining payouts of
approximately $5,000 are classified as payrollilités on the consolidated balance sheet.

10. License and Collaborative Agreements
Pharmacia

In August 2002 we entered into an agreement witlrfhcia that grants us an exclusive license torRéaa’s portfolio of regulatory
filings pertaining to rhiIGF-I. In consideration fthre exclusive license we have agreed to makeghexraailable to the 17 Growth Hormone
Insensitivity Syndrome subjects that were previplaing treated with rhiGF-1 supplied by Pharmacia.

NAPO

On January 5, 2007, we entered into an agreemémtN#APO Pharmaceuticals, whereby NAPO will licefreen us the technology
surrounding INSM-18 also know as Masoprocal. Therlse gives NAPO the right to develop, manufacuaccommercialize Masoprocal
products for any indications relating specificatiydiabetes, cardiac disease, vascular diseasabolietdisease and Syndrome X. The
agreement calls for payments from NAPO to us uperdelivery of certain milestones. During 2007 weeived $1.5 million in milestone
payments.

11. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

INSMED INCORPORATED
Quarterly Financial Data
(in thousands except per share amounts)

Fiscal Quarter

First Second Third Fourth
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
Revenue: $ 166( $ 54 $227¢ $ 21C $145: $ 226 $214: $ 501
Operating Los: (10,409 (10,920 (2,569 (9,329 (4,129 (12,729 (3,344  (21,40Y
Net Loss (10,259  (13,42) 250C  (8,91) (3,919 (12,379 (3,297 (21,429

Net Loss Per Share (Basic and Dilut $ (010 $ (0179 $(0.02 $(009 $@©O0) $ (01 $(©0) $ (0.2)
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12. Legal Proceedings

In fiscal 2006, our patent infringement litigatiasith Tercica and Genentech continued in both thi#éddrStates District Court for the
Northern District of California and in the Unitedngdom at the High Court of Justice, Chancery DorisPatents Court. In addition, in Ju
2006, Tercica filed an unfair competition suit aggtius in the United States District Court of tleestérn District of Virginia, claiming that we
disseminated misleading statements to the markannection with our marketing of IPLEX.

On December 6, 2006, a jury in the United Statestridt Court for the Northern District of Califomnfound that we infringed patents h
by Tercica and Genentech and awarded damagesSf#ifion as an upfront payment and a royalty o¥dlén sales of IPLEX below $100
million and 20% for sales of IPLEX above $100 roitli

On March 5, 2007, we reached a settlement agreesnelinig all litigation with Tercica and GenenteBlrsuant to the agreement, we
agreed to cease sales and marketing of IPLEX ftrésatment of short stature disorders in the driates and agreed to withdraw our
European Marketing Authorization Application forLIPX for treatment of short stature disorders. Wattwie to provide IPLEX to named
patients with ALS in Italy under our Expanded Ac@sogram. We pay a royalty under our agreemerslf@ost-recovery that we receive
under the Expanded Access Program. The agreensengiaes us the right, through a worldwide develeptipartnership with Tercica and
Genentech, to market IPLEX for conditions not retito short stature. These indications include reemsulin resistance, MMD and HARS,
among others. The development partnership inclpd®gsions that give us a 50% share of profits @ichbursement for 50% of development
costs if either Tercica or Genentech exercisesropghts for marketing of IPLEX in any of thesewédications that we develop. In addition,
as part of the settlement agreement, Tercica amei@ech waived the damages awarded by the juheipatent infringement suit from the
District Court for the Northern District of Califoia.
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Exhibit

Number

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

4.1
4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Title

Articles of Incorporation of Insmed Incorporated,aanended (previously filed as Annex H to the JBnaixy
Statement/Prospectus contained in Part | of Insimeatporated’s Registration Statement on Form 8ep(stration No. 333-
30098) and incorporated herein by referen

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Insmed Incorporgexyiously filed as Annex | to the Joint Proxy t8taent/Prospectus
contained in Part | of Insmed Incorporated’s Regi&in Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 36898) and
incorporated herein by referenc

Form of Articles of Amendment to Insmed Incorpod’s Articles of Incorporation, as amended, creatimgwa series o
Preferred Stock designated as Series A Juniordifrating Preferred Stock (previously filed as Extibto the Rights
Agreement, dated as of May 16, 2001, between Indnmmporated and First Union National Bank, asi&gAgent, filed as
Exhibit 4.4 to Insmed Incorporated’s Registratidgat&ment on Form 8-A filed with the Securities &athange Commission
on May, 17, 2001 and incorporated herein by refeggl

Amendment for Reverse Split (previously filed asibit 3.4 to Insmed Incorporated’s Annual ReportFamm 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2003 and incorporatednhieyaieference;

Description of Capital Stock (contained in the Algs of Incorporation filed as Exhibit 3.:

Specimen stock certificate representing commorkst®©1 par value per share, of the Registrantpusly filed as Exhibit
4.2 to Insmed Incorporated’s Registration Staternarfform S-4 (Registration No. 333-30098) and ipocated herein by
reference)

Article VI of the Articles of Incorporation of Insad Incorporated (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1iemed Incorporate' s
Registration Statement on Forr-4 (Registration No. 3:--30098) and incorporated herein by referen

Rights Agreement, dated as of May 16, 2001, betwreemed Incorporated and First Union National BaskRights Agent
(which includes as (i) Exhibit A the form of Arteed of Amendment to Insmed Incorporated’s Articlekoorporation, as
amended, (ii) Exhibit B the form of Rights Certdie, and (iii) Exhibit C the Summary of the Rigtd$urchase Preferred
Stock) (previously filed as Exhibit 4.4 to Insmextdrporated’s Registration Statement on Form 8l&dfivith the Securities
and Exchange Commission on May 17, 2001 and incatpd herein by referenct

Form of Rights Certificate (previously filed as HyihB to the Rights Agreement, dated as of May2@)1, between Insmed
Incorporated and First Union National Bank, as Righgent, filed as Exhibit 4.4 to Insmed Incorperis Registration
Statement on Form 8-A filed with the Securities &xdhange Commission on May 17, 2001 and incorpdrherein by
reference)

Form of Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement bybatwleen Insmed Incorporated and each of the iokest the July
2003 private placement of common stock and warr@anpsirchase common stock (previously filed as BEitHi.6 to Insmed
Incorporated’s Registration Statement on Form 8e(stration No. 333:07308) on July 24, 2003 and incorporated herei
reference)

Form of Warrant issued by Insmed Incorporated thed the investors in July 2003 private placen@rtommon stock and
warrants to purchase common stock (previously filedExhibit 4.7 to Insmed Incorporated’s Registratstatement on Form
S-3 (Registration No. 3:-107308) on July 24, 2003 and incorporated hereirefgrence)

Form of Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement bybatdeen Insmed Incorporated and each of the ioksest the
November 2004 private placement of common stockveanglants to purchase common stock (previousliy file Exhibit 10.:
to Insmed Incorporat’s Current Report on Forn-K on November 10, 2004 and incorporated hereiretigrence)
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Exhibit
Number

4.9

4.10

411

4.12

4.13

4.14

4.15

10.1
10.2

10.3

10.4+

10.5+

Exhibit Title

Form of Warrant issued by Insmed Incorporated thed the investors in November 2004 private plaeenof common stock
and warrants to purchase common stock (previollsly &s Exhibit B to the Form of Stock and WarrBntchase Agreement by
and between Insmed Incorporated and each of thestars previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Insmeddrporated’s Current
Report on Form-K on November 10, 2004 and incorporated hereireligrence)

Form of Purchase Agreement dated March 15, 2008dw®et Insmed Incorporated and each of the investdre March 2005
private placement of notes and warrants to purcbasenon stock (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 tsined Incorporated’s
Current Report on Forr-K on March 16, 2005 and incorporated herein byresfee).

Form of 5.5% Note Due 20-2010 dated March 15, 2005 between Insmed Incorpdi@td each of the investors in the Me
2005 private placement of notes and warrants tolase common stock (previously filed as Exhibitté.thsmed Incorporated’s
Current Report on Forr-K on March 16, 2005 and incorporated herein byresfee).

Form of Warrant dated March 15, 2005 between Insimegrporated and each of the investors in the R2@05 private
placement of notes and warrants to purchase constock (previously filed as Exhibit 4.3 to Insmeddnporated’s Current
Report on Form -K on March 16, 2005 and incorporated herein byresfee).

Form of Registration Rights Agreement dated Margh2D05 between Insmed Incorporated and each dfhttestors in the
March 2005 private placement of notes and warr@npsirchase common stock (previously filed as ExHild to Insmed
Incorporate’s Current Report on Forn-K on March 16, 2005 and incorporated herein byresfee).

Amendment No. 1 to Rights Agreement dated Marc2085 between Insmed Incorporated and Wachovia Bk (f/k/a
First Union National Bank) (previously filed as Hhit 4.5 to Insmed Incorporated’s Current Reportamm 8-K on March 16,
2005 and incorporated herein by referen

Form of Warrant dated May 4, 2007 between Insmedrpyorated and each of the investors in the May Z0vate placement
common stock and warrants to purchase common gpoekiously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Insmed’s Curr&eport on Form 8-K
on May 4, 2007 and incorporated herein by referg!

Insmed Incorporated 2000 Stock Purchase Plan @usli filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Insmed IncorporagRegistration Statement
on Form &4 (Registration No. 3:-30098) and incorporated herein by referen

Insmed Incorporated 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (presly filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Insmed Incorporé' s Registration Stateme
on Form &4 (Registration No. 3:-30098) and incorporated herein by referen

Amended and Restated License Agreement betweerethBimarmaceuticals, Inc. and the University of MiayPaten
Foundation (previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 tormexd Incorporated’s Registration Statement on Fodn(Begistration No. 333-
30098) and incorporated herein by referen

Subscription, Joint Development and Operating Agrest by and among Celtrix Pharmaceuticals, Inan Elorporation, plc,
Elan International Services, Ltd., and Celtrix Nevidd. dated as of April 21, 1999 (previously filad Exhibit 10.8 to Insmed
Incorporate’s Registration Statement on For-4 (Registration No. 3:-30098) and incorporated herein by referen

License Agreement by and between Celtrix Newco atdl Celtrix Pharmaceuticals, Inc. dated as of1&drj 1999 (previously
filed as Exhibit 10.9 to Insmed Incorporated’s Régition Statement on Form S-4 (Registration N@-33098) and incorporate
herein by reference
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Number

10.6+

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13+4

10.14

10.15*

10.16

10.17

10.18

Exhibit Title

License Agreement by and between Celtrix Newco atai Elan Pharmaceutical Technologies, a divisfdelan Corporation,
plc, dated as of April 21, 1999 (previously filesl Bxhibit 10.10 to Insmed Incorporated’s Registratstatement on Form S-4
(Registration No. 32-30098) and incorporated herein by referen

License Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2993, betw&enentech, Inc. and Celtrix Pharmaceuticals,(previously filed a
Exhibit 10.11 to Insmed Incorporated’s Registrat8iatement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 38898) and incorporated her
by reference)

Purchase Agreement among Insmed, Inc., Insmed Ricauticals, Inc. and certain investors named thetaied January 13,
2000 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.12 to Insmeddrporated’s Registration Statement on Form Segi{&ration No. 333-
30098) and incorporated herein be referer

Form of Warrant of Insmed to be issued pursuaRuichase Agreement among Insmed Incorporated, th§tharmaceutical:
Inc. and certain investors dated January 13, 2p6ipusly filed as Exhibit 10.13 to Insmed Incagted’s Registration
Statement on Form-4 (Registration No. 3:-30098) and incorporated herein by referen

Form of Registration Rights Agreement among Insinedrporated, Insmed Pharmaceuticals, Inc. andhiceirtvestors party to
the Purchase Agreement among Insmed Incorporateched Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and certain investesidJanuary 13, 2000
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.14 to Insmed Incorated’s Registration Statement on From S-4 (Regish No. 33330098) ant
incorporated herein by referenc

Sublease, dated March 30, 2001, between Rhodiaivtinsmed Incorporated (previously filed as EiHib.15 to Insmed
Incorporate’s Quarterly Report on form -Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2001 and incatedrherein by reference

Consent to Sublease, dated as of April 12, 200bngrm & W Virginia Corporation, as Landlord, Rhodig., as Tenant, ar
Insmed Incorporated, as Subtenant (previously filedxhibit 10.16 to Insmed Incorporated’s QuaytB#port on form 10-Q for
the quarter ended March 31, 2001 and incorporateeirh by reference

License and Supply Agreement, dated as of Augus2@83, between Insmed Incorporated and Pharmagigreviously filed
as Exhibit 10.16 to Insmed Incorporated’s Annugb&teof form 10-K for the year ended December IRand incorporated
herein by reference

Agreement, dated as of March 3, 2004, between lddnmrporated and Geoffrey Allan, Ph.D. (previguiied as Exhibit 10.1
to the Insmed Incorporated’s Annual Report on fadvK for the year ended December 31, 2003 and porated herein by
reference)

License Agreement, dated as of January 19, 20@4eke Insmed Incorporated and Fujisawa Pharmaeg @i, Ltd.
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.18 to the Insmeddrporated’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for theryeaded December 31,
2003 and incorporated herein by referen

Form of Change of Control Agreement entered intwvben Insmed Incorporated and certain of its exeewfficers (previously
filed as Exhibit 10.19 to Insmed Incorporated’s AahReport on form 10-K for the year ended Decen®ie2004 and
incorporated herein by referenc

Form of Executive Stock Option Grant (previouslgdi as Exhibit 10.1 to Insmed Incorporated’s AnriReport on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2004 and incorpatatrein by reference

Lease between 2545 Central, LLC and Insmed Incatpdrmade December 14, 2005 (previously filed dslix10.18 or
Insmed Incorporate s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2005 and incatpdrherein by referenc
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10.22

10.23
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211

23.1
31.1

31.2

32.1

32.2

Exhibit Title

Change in Control Agreement entered into betwesméd Incorporated and Geoffrey Allan, Ph.D. (presiy filed as Exhibit
10.19 to Insmed Incorporated’s Annual Report omi&0-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 amatiracated herein by
reference)

Change in Control Agreement entered into betweeméd Incorporated and Ronald Gunn (previously figdExhibit 10.20 t
Insmed Incorporate s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2006 and incatpdrherein by referenc

Form of Change in Control Agreement entered intwben Insmed Incorporated and Kevin Tully and DBagar (previoush
filed as Exhibit 10.21 to Insmed Incorporated’s AahReport on Form 10-K for the year ended Decer3ikge2006 and
incorporated herein by referenc

Amended and Restated 2000 Employee Stock PurchasdgPeviously filed as Exhibit 10.22 to Insmeddnporated’s Annual
Report on Form 1-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 and incatpdrherein by reference

Form of Subscription Agreement entered into betwesmed Incorporated and each of the investors/tdne 2007 private
placement of common stock and warrants to purcbasenon stock (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 tedmed’s Current Report
on Form K on May 4, 2007 and incorporated herein by refeeg:

Settlement, license and development agreement] diéaech 6, 2007, between Insmed Incorporated, Idsiterapeutic
Proteins, Inc., Celtrix Pharmaceuticals, Terciaa,land Genentech, Inc. (previously filed as ExHiBi1 to Insmed’s Quarterly
Report on 1-Q on May 10, 2007

Subsidiaries of Insmed Incorporated (previouskydias Exhibit 21.1 to Insmed Incorporé s Annual Report on Form -K for
the year ended December 31, 2001 and incorporatednhby reference

Consent of Ernst & Young LLF

Certification of Geoffrey Allan, Ph.D., chairmanthie Board and Chief Executive Officer of Insmeddrporated, pursuant
Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) promulgated undesduarities Exchange Act of 1932, as adopted patgosSection 302 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2003

Certification of Kevin P. Tully, Executive vice Bident and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Fic#&i and Accounting Officel
of Insmed Incorporated, pursuant to Rules 13a-1afd)15d-14(a) promulgated under the Securitieh&xge Act of 1934, as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sart-Oxley Act of 2003

Certification of Geoffrey Allan, Ph. D., Chairmahtbe Board and Chief Executive Officer (Principahancial Officer) of
Insmed Incorporated, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. SediB%0, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of theaBa-Oxley Act of 2003

Certification of Kevin P. Tully, Executive Vice Rident and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Fic&l and Accounting
Officer) of Insmed Incorporated, pursuant to 18.0.SSection 1350, as adopted pursuant to Secti6roBthe Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2003.

+ The Securities and Exchange Commission has graatefidential treatment with respect to certafioimation in these exhibits. The
confidential portions of these exhibits have besitied and filed separately with the Securities Brdhange Commissio

* Confidential treatment has been requested faageportions of this exhibit. The confidential fons of this exhibit have been omitted and
filed separately with the Securities and Exchangmmission
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EXHIBIT 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference infdllewing Registration Statements of Insmed Inasgied and in the related prospectuses of
our reports dated March 7, 2008, with respect éoctinsolidated financial statements of Insmed lpo@ted and the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting of Insmed Incoratad, included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) fiee year ended December 31, 2007:

Registration

Statement

Number Description

335131535 Form &-3, pertaining to the Shelf Registration Staten

333123695 Form ¢£-3, pertaining to the Offering of Securities in JAR03, November 2004 and March 2(
333139744 Form ¢£-8, pertaining to the Insmed Incorporated AmendatiR@stated Employee Stock Purchase
33:-87878 Form &-8, pertaining to the Insmed Incorporated Stock iitige Plan

33:-39198 Form ¢£-8, pertaining to the Insmed Incorporated EmployeelSPurchase Ple

335129479 Form &-8, pertaining to the Insmed Incorporated EmployeelSPurchase Plan and Stock Incentive |
33:-39200 Form ¢£-8, pertaining to the Insmed Incorporated Stock ritiee Plan

/sl Ernst & Young

Richmond, Virginia
March 7, 2008



EXHIBIT 31.1
Section 302 Certification

I, Geoffrey Allan, Ph.D., Chairman of the Board altief Executive Officer of Insmed Incorporateditife that:
() I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fknsmed Incorporated;

(2) Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact ort@éstate a material fact necessary to n
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeker which such statements were made, not misigadith respect to the period covered by
this report;

(3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this report;

(4) The registrant’s other certifying officer andrk responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))iatetinal control over financial reporting (as defihin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoifge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duritg fperiod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financegdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with geneealepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentthdsi report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees) as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thesggnt's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrantourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuyabm® that has materially affected, or is reasopdikély
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal trmhover financial reporting; and

(5) The registrant’s other certifying officer antidve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commiti&the registrant’s board of directors (or pesspearforming the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regidfsaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedymanagement or other employees who have a simiifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 12, 2008

/s/  GEOFFREYA LLAN ,
Geoffrey Allan, Ph.D.
Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)




EXHIBIT 31.2
Section 302 Certification

I, Kevin P. Tully, Executive Vice President and &hrinancial Officer of Insmed Incorporated, certifiat:
() I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fknsmed Incorporated;

(2) Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact ort@éstate a material fact necessary to n
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeker which such statements were made, not misigadith respect to the period covered by
this report;

(3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this report;

(4) The registrant’s other certifying officer andrk responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))iatetinal control over financial reporting (as defihin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoifge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duritg fperiod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financegdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with geneealepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentthdsi report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees) as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thesggnt's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrantourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuyabm® that has materially affected, or is reasopdikély
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal trmhover financial reporting; and

(5) The registrant’s other certifying officer antidve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitithe registrant’s board of directors (or pesspearforming the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regidfsaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedymanagement or other employees who have a simiifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 12, 2008

/sl KEvINP. TuLLY
Kevin P. Tully, C.G.A,,
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2003

In connection with this Annual Report on Form 1@Knsmed Incorporated (the “Companyty the period ended December 31, 200
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissionhe date hereof (the “Report”), I, Geoffrey Alldh.D., Chairman of the Board and

Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify,rpuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursudh®@b of the Sarbaneé3xley Act of 2003
that:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exg®Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) the information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and result of operations of the
Company.
/s/ GEOFFREYA LLAN

Geoffrey Allan, Ph.D.
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

March 12, 2008

This certification accompanies the FormHK @ which it relates, is not deemed filed with tBecurities and Exchange Commission and is r
be incorporated by reference into any filing ofriresl Incorporated under the Securities Act of 1883mended, or the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before er tifé date of the Form 10-K), irrespective of geperal incorporation language contained
in such filing.



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2003

In connection with this Annual Report on Form 1@Knsmed Incorporated (the “Companyty the period ended December 31, 200
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissinihe date hereof (the “Report”), I, Kevin P. Tulxecutive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursugmtl8 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to 9@t Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2003, that:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExgfeAct of 1934, as amended; and

(2) the information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and result of operations of the
Company.

/sl KEvINP. TuLLY
Kevin P. Tully, C.G.A.
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer

March 12, 2008

This certification accompanies the FormHK @ which it relates, is not deemed filed with tBecurities and Exchange Commission and is r

be incorporated by reference into any filing ofriresl Incorporated under the Securities Act of 1883mended, or the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before er tifé date of the Form 10-K), irrespective of geperal incorporation language contained
in such filing.



